# FINAL REPORT

Modeling the Carbon Implications of Ecologically Based Forest Management

# SERDP Project RC-2118

### AUGUST 2015

Matthew Hurteau Bruce Hungate George Koch Malcolm North **The Pennsylvania State University** 

> *Distribution Statement A* This document has been cleared for public release



This report was prepared under contract to the Department of Defense Strategic Environmental Research and Development Program (SERDP). The publication of this report does not indicate endorsement by the Department of Defense, nor should the contents be construed as reflecting the official policy or position of the Department of Defense. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the Department of Defense.

	Form Approved		
REPORT DO	OMB No. 0704-0188		
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. <b>PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.</b>			
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE	3. DATES COVERED (From - To)	
20-08-2015	Final	27-09-2011 - 30-09-2015	
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5a. CONTRACT NUMBER	
		W91HQ-11-C-0085	
Modeling the carbon implica	ations of ecologically-based forest	5b. GRANT NUMBER	
management			
		5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S)		5d. PROJECT NUMBER	
Hurteau, Matthew D.		RC-2118	
Hungate, Bruce A.		5e. TASK NUMBER	
Koch, George W.			
North, Malcolm P.		5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(	S) AND ADDRESS(ES)	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT	
Pennsylvania State Univers	ity	NUMBER	
408 Old Main			
University Park, PA 16802-			
1505			
9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY	NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)	10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)	
		SERDP	
Strategic Environmental Rea	search and Development Program		
4800 Mark Center Drive. Suite 1	7D03	11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT	
Alexandria VA 22350-3605		NUMBER(S)	
		RC-2118	
12 DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATE	MENT		
Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited			
13. SUFFLEMENTART NUTES			

#### 14. ABSTRACT

Increasing treatment intensity resulted in decreasing total ecosystem carbon (TEC). Treatments that included thinning, however, increased net ecosystem carbon balance, making thinned forests a larger sink for carbon. This finding is a result of decreased competition for resources resulting from thinning. At Fort Benning actively restoring longleaf pine forest (LLP) decreased TEC by approximately 22% compared to the control (broadleaved forest). LLP restoration, however, increased red-cockaded woodpecker habitat such that approximately 90% of the upland forest area (e.g. historically LLP forest) was viable habitat by the end of the simulation period. At Camp Navajo thinning and prescribed burning treatments decreased TEC relative to the control in the absence of wildfire, but increased TEC relative to the control when wildfire was simulated. Simulations also demonstrated that thinning and burning decreases the risk of habitat loss for the Mexican spotted owl. At Joint Base Lewis McChord treatments that included thinning resulted in the lowest TEC, but the highest net ecosystem carbon balance. In addition, thin-only and thin and burn treatments significantly increased the probability of Oregon white oak presence by the end of the simulation period, an important food source for western gray squirrel during mast years.

#### **15. SUBJECT TERMS**

Forest carbon, wildfire, management, thinning, prescribed burning

16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	<b>19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON</b>	
		OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Matthew Hurteau	
a. REPORT U	<b>b. ABSTRACT</b> U	<b>c. THIS PAGE</b> U	SAR	טט	<b>19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER</b> (include area code) 505–277–0863

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	1
Objectives	3
Technical Approach	4
Background	4
Materials and Methods	6
Field Sampling:	
Wildlife sampling methods:	15
Modeling:	
Model Comparison of Land-use Practices:	
Fort Benning FVS Treatments	
Camp Navajo FVS Treatments	21
Joint Base Lewis McChord FVS Treatments	21
Results and Discussion	
Field data summary	
FVS Simulations	
Fort Benning FVS Simulations	
Camp Navajo FVS Simulations	27
Joint Base Lewis McChord FVS Simulations	27
FVS Simulation Harvest and Emissions	
LANDIS-II Simulations – Fort Benning	47
LANDIS-II Simulations – Camp Navajo	
LANDIS-II Simulations – Joint Base Lewis McChord	71
Wildlife Results – Fort Benning	77
Wildlife Results – Camp Navajo	79
Wildlife Results – Joint Base Lewis McChord	
Conclusions and Implications for Future Research/Implementation	
Literature Cited	
Appendix A	1
Appendix B	16
Appendix C	17

# List of Tables

Table 1: Numbers of plots by stand type at each installation 1	4
Table 2: Diameter at breast height (DBH) cut-offs used for sampling stand structure plots 1	5
Table 3: Live tree carbon by stratum for each installation. Standard error is presented in parentheses2	22
Table 4: Mean and standard error carbon removed during thinning by treatment for each stratum at Fort	
Benning. Young stands are < 10 years old, Mid stands are 30-59 years old, and Old stands are > 60 year	S
old	12
Table 5: Mean and standard error carbon removed during thinning by treatment at Camp Navajo.	
Harvested carbon values are presented by stratum for the East Buffer (EB), West Buffer (WB), and	
Limited Area (LA)	12
Table 6: Mean and standard error carbon (Mg C ha-1) removed during thinning by treatment at Joint Bas	se
Lewis McChord	13
Table 7: Comparison of mean structural attributes between stands with and without western gray squirrel	1
use. * indicate values between the two use categories that are significantly different (p<0.05 t-test)8	30

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Generalized forest carbon pools and fluxes
Figure 2: In dry, fire-prone forest types, the C stock varies as a function of the frequency of disturbance.
An active fire regime results in a relatively stable C stock because frequent fires maintain fuel loads at
levels that result in low-intensity fire. When wildfire occurs in the fire-excluded forest, the C stock is
reduced below the carrying capacity. The C stock recovery following wildfire depends on the
successional path of the forest recovery (from Hurteau, 2013)
Figure 3: Longleaf pine forest (Pinus palustris, top), ponderosa pine forest (Pinus ponderosa, middle),
Douglas-fir forest ( <i>Pseudotsuga menziesii</i> , bottom)9
Figure 4: Work flow of the technical approach for project RC-211810
Figure 5: Map of Fort Benning with sampled stand locations by stratum
Figure 6: Map of Camp Navajo with sampled stand locations by stratum (East and West Buffer) and plot
locations within the Limited Area. The East and West Buffer areas are part of the installation that
provides a perimeter buffer for the secure Limited Area where the depot is maintained. The Limited Area
does not have forest stands delineated because of the nature of the utilization of this area of the
installation
Figure 7: Map of Joint Base Lewis McChord with sampled stand locations by forest type13
Figure 8: Field plot design used for collecting stand structure data. The plot structure included a 1/5 ha
plot with 1/10 and 1/50 ha subplots. Specific diameter cut-offs for subplots are identified by installation
in Table 2. Three modified Brown's fuel transects (blue lines) were installed from plot center. Soil
samples (red dots) were collected from a subsample of plots. Whole tree leaf biomass was also collected
from a subsample of trees within plots (green rectangles)15
Figure 9: Diameter distributions for each stratum at Fort Benning. Note that the y-axis varies by stand
type
Figure 10: Diameter distributions for each stratum at Camp Navajo. Note that the y-axis varies by stand
type
Figure 11: Diameter distributions for each forest type (FT) at Joint Base Lewis McChord. FT1: > 50%
Douglas-fir on prairie soils; FT2: > 50% Douglas-fir on non-prairie soils; FT3: mixed forest with Garry
oak; FT4: mixed forest without Garry oak. Note that the y-axis varies by forest type25
Figure 12: The relationship between whole tree leaf biomass and diameter at breast height for the
dominant species at Fort Benning (longleaf pine), Camp Navajo (ponderosa pine), and Joint Base Lewis
McChord (Douglas-fir)
Figure 13: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third
column) at Fort Benning. The first row is young stands, the second row is stands 30-59 years old, and the
third row is stands $> 60$ years old. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs
Figure 14: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 10 years old and
younger at Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 15: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 30-59 years old at
Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 16: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 60 years old or
greater at Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 17: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third
column) at Camp Navajo. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs

Figure 18: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for East Buffer stands at Camp Navajo by treatment.
Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 19: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for West Buffer stands at Camp Navajo by treatment.
Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 20: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Limited Area stands at Camp Navajo by
treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 21: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third
column) at Joint Base Lewis McChord. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs
Figure 22: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 1 stands at Joint Base Lewis
McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 23: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 2 stands at Joint Base Lewis
McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 24: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 3 stands at Joint Base Lewis
McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 25: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 4 stands at Joint Base Lewis
McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment
Figure 26: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each stratum at Fort Benning. Note the y-axis scale
varies by stand type
Figure 27: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each stand type at Camp Navajo45
Figure 28: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each forest type at Joint Base Lewis McChord. Note
the y-axis scale varies by forest type
Figure 29: LANDIS-II ecoregions identified as a function of soil type from the NRCS SSURGO soils
database for Fort Benning
Figure 30: Forest types assigned to 200 m grid cells based on inventory data for Fort Benning
Figure 31: Net Ecosystem Exchange by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation. Negative values represent a net carbon sink. Note
the y-axis varies by ecoregion
Figure 32: Soil organic carbon by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion
Figure 33: Initial aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation
Figure 34: Year 50 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century
Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation
Figure 35: Year 100 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century
Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation
Figure 36: Net Ecosystem Exchange by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation. Negative values represent a net carbon sink.
Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion
Figure 37: Soil organic carbon by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion
Figure 38: Initial aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession
extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation
Figure 39: Year 50 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century
Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation

Figure 40: Year 100 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century
Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation
Figure 41: Total Ecosystem Carbon over 100 years for three treatment simulations. Values are mean and
standard deviation from 100 simulation replicates
Figure 42: Net ecosystem carbon balance for the control (A), burn-only (B), and thin and burn (C) over
the simulation period. NECB is calculated as net primary productivity, minus losses from heterotrophic
respiration and disturbance. Values are means and 95% confidence intervals
Figure 43: Total ecosystem carbon over a 25 year simulation period inclusive of stochastic wildfire for the
control and thin and burn treatments. Values are means and 95% confidence bands
Figure 44: Mean fire severity from simulations with random ignition at Camp Navajo
Figure 45: The Camp Navaio landscape categorized as a function of fire risk and slope. Areas with slopes
>14% were excluded from treatment 64
Figure 46: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the three simulated treatments (control, thin-only, thin and
burn) in the absence of simulated wildfire over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines represent
mean TEC by treatment for 50 simulation replicates
Figure 47: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the three simulated treatments the absence of
wildfire over the 100-year simulation period The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area
95% confidence intervals.
Figure 48: Mean fire severity calculated from the 50 simulation replicates at Camp Navaio, AZ for the
control (A), thin-only (B), and thin and burn (C) using a probability of fire occurrence equivalent to 0.02.
68
Figure 49: Coefficient of variation (CV) of fire severity across Camp Navajo, AZ for the control (A).
thin-only (b), and thin and burn (C) using a probability of fire occurrence equivalent to 0.02
Figure 50: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the three simulated treatments with the probability of
wildfire occurrence simulated at 2% yr-1 and 1% yr-1 over the 100-year simulation period. The dark
lines are mean TEC and shaded areas 95% confidence intervals
Figure 51: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the three simulated treatments with the probability
of wildfire occurrence simulated at 2% yr-1 over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines are mean
TEC and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals
Figure 52: Map of broad forest type classification for Joint Base Lewis McChord. The map includes the
location of the 708 ha intensive Oregon white oak management area
Figure 53: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the four simulated treatments over the 100-year
simulation period. The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area 95% confidence intervals.73
Figure 54: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the four simulated treatments over the 100-year simulation
period. The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area 95% confidence intervals
Figure 55: Probability of Oregon white oak occurrence at the end of the 100 year simulation period under
four different treatment scenarios
Figure 56: Probability surfaces for the 708 ha oak management area. The figure on the left is the thin and
burn. The figure on the right is the intensive oak management treatment. The color scale ranges from 0
(white) to 1 (dark green)
Figure 57: Red-cockaded woodpecker plot distribution at Fort Benning
Figure 58: Mean stand age (left), longleaf pine basal area (center), and site index (left) for the three red-
cockaded woodpecker habitat types sampled at Fort Benning

Figure 59: The three stand attributes associated with red-cockaded woodpecker use were h	herbaceous
cover (left), woody debris cover (middle), and number of pine snags (right)	
Figure 60: Example of mapped tree locations (purple dots) around a known RCW next tree	e (red dot) at
Fort Benning.	79
Figure 61: The ratio of post- and pre-treatment growth (average 5-year post BAI/average 5	5-year pre BAI)
plotted against the change in relative stand density (as measured by the Hegyi index). Hig	gher delta Hegyi
values indicate a greater reduction in density.	
Figure 62: Process of canopy connectivity modeling. Stem mapped trees are plotted (left)	) and then
allometric relationships are used to build tree crowns (middle). Connected crowns are the	en joined (right,
purpled shaded areas) to identify connected canopies.	
Figure 63: Example of dissolved canopies for exit pathway analysis used to determine the	number of exits
available for the western gray squirrel to leave a plot	

### **List of Acronyms**

BA – Basal Area C – Carbon CN – Camp Navajo CV - Coefficient of Variation DBH – Diameter at Breast Height (1.37 m) DoD – Department of Defense FB – Fort Benning FVS – Forest Vegetation Simulator ICO - Individual trees, Clumps of trees, Openings JBLM - Joint Base Lewis McChord MSO - Mexican Spotted Owl NCDC - National Climatic Data Center NEE – Net Ecosystem Exchange NEP – Net Ecosystem Production NPP – Net Primary Productivity PDSI – Palmer Drought Severity Index QMD - Quadratic Mean Diameter R<sub>h</sub> – Heterotropic Respiration RCW-Red-cockaded Woodpecker SDI – Stand Density Index WSG - Western Gray Squirrel

# Keywords

Carbon, Emissions, Fire, Forest Management, Mitigation, Sequestration

### Acknowledgements

Funding for this research was provided by the Department of Defense's Strategic Environmental Research and Development Program (SERDP). The project investigators also acknowledge the contributions of Katherine Martin (Postdoctoral Scholar, Penn State), Danelle Laflower (Graduate Student, Penn State), Shuang Liang (Graduate Student, Penn State) and Celine Colbert (Undergraduate Research Technician, Penn State) for their contributions to this research. The project investigators also thank Bruce Buttrey, Jeff Foster, James Parker, and Rob Addington for facilitating data collection and providing additional data for each of the installations.

### Abstract

**Objectives:** The objective of this research was to use an ecosystem model to simulate the effects of management actions and disturbance on forest carbon dynamics. The central question was: What are the carbon tradeoffs of different management actions designed to meet different management objectives? Different management scenarios were evaluated at three different installations (Fort Benning, Camp Navajo, and Joint Base Lewis McChord), each with different management histories and a focal species of wildlife with specific habitat requirements.

**Technical Approach:** The project began with the intent of coupling an ecosystem model with a growth-and-yield model by using data on whole tree leaf biomass. However, for reasons including model performance and feasibility of technology transfer to installation managers, the project team transitioned to using a different modeling approach. The landscape-scale succession and disturbance model, LANDIS-II, was used because it performed well in validation and presents fewer challenges for technology transfer. The model uses an age-cohort based approach to simulate forest succession and growth over time and across space. In addition to the core model, the Century Succession extension was used, which enables the simulation of above and belowground carbon stocks and fluxes. The model framework was parameterized for each of the installations and used to simulate carbon dynamics as a function of different management scenarios.

**Results:** Increasing treatment intensity resulted in decreasing total ecosystem carbon. Treatments that included thinning, however, increased net ecosystem carbon balance, making thinned forests a larger sink for carbon. This finding is a result of decreased competition for resources (e.g. water, nutrients, light) resulting from thinning. At Fort Benning actively restoring longleaf pine forest decreased total ecosystem carbon by approximately 22% compared to the control (fire-suppressed broadleaved forest). Longleaf pine (Pinus palustris) restoration, however, increased red-cockaded woodpecker (Picoides borealis) habitat such that approximately 90% of the upland forest area (e.g. historically longleaf pine dominated forest) was viable habitat by the end of the simulation period. At Camp Navajo thinning and prescribed burning treatments decreased total ecosystem carbon relative to the control in the absence of wildfire. When wildfire was included in the simulations, however, the thin and burn treatment had higher total ecosystem carbon than the control by the end of the simulation period. This results from the reduced risk of high-severity wildfire from treatment. Simulations also demonstrated that thinning and burning decreases the risk of habitat loss for the Mexican spotted owl (Strix occidentalis). At Joint Base Lewis McChord treatments that included thinning resulted in the lowest total ecosystem carbon, but the highest net ecosystem carbon balance. In addition, thin-only and thin and burn treatments significantly increased the probability of Oregon white oak (Quercus garryana) presence by the end of the simulation period. This species provides an important food source for the western gray squirrel (Sciurus griseus) during mast years.

**Benefits:** Workshops were held at each of the installations to train resource managers in the operation of the parameterized models. The models provide a planning tool for evaluating the cumulative effects of stand-scale management actions on installation-wide forest carbon stocks and sequestration.

# **Objectives**

Our objective was to develop a methodology for modeling forest carbon sinks and sources on Department of Defense (DoD) lands that can be used to quantify the carbon impacts of different forest management regimes, including those directed toward reducing fire emissions.

# **Technical Objectives**

- 1. Develop a methodology for using a growth-and-yield model, integrated with a biogeochemical model, to characterize the carbon cycle for DoD forested ecosystems. This methodology will enable quantifying above- and below-ground carbon sinks and sources, their changes through succession, and their responses to management and disturbance, including prescribed burning.
- 2. Model and compare how changes in land-use practices, including ecologically-based forest management, plantation forestry, and biomass production, affect an installation's carbon footprint, as well as other ecosystem services (e.g., biodiversity, wildlife habitat, water availability), over short (less than 10 years), intermediate (10 to 50 years), and long (greater than 50 years) time horizons.
- 3. Identify optimal forestry and land-use practices that balance maximal carbon storage with other ecosystem services (e.g. biodiversity and wildlife habitat), using a life-cycle carbon management assessment.
- 4. Quantify the carbon benefit that can be obtained using ecologically-based forest management to an installation's carbon footprint using the Climate Action Reserve forest protocol v3.1.

# **Technical Approach**

#### Background

The forest carbon cycle can be generically described as a series of carbon pools that interact with each other and the atmosphere through a series of fluxes (Figure 1). Carbon is removed from the atmosphere through photosynthesis by trees and understory vegetation, and some of this carbon is released back to the atmosphere through respiration. Once sequestered, carbon in plant material eventually transitions to the snag, woody debris, or surface fuel pool for trees, and the surface fuel pool in the case of understory vegetation. During decomposition, some of the carbon from the dead plant material is incorporated into the organic horizon and mineral soil. In the absence of disturbance, the expectation is that the carbon stock grows to a theoretical maximum where Net Ecosystem Productivity (NEP, the annual change in the total ecosystem carbon stock) approaches zero (Hudiburg et al., 2009).



Figure 1: Generalized forest carbon pools and fluxes.

When fire enters into the equation, fluxes back to the atmosphere increase as a function of fire severity (Meigs et al., 2009; Wiedinmyer and Hurteau, 2010). Furthermore, increasing fire severity increases tree mortality (Agee and Skinner, 2005). When fire severity and tree mortality are high, NEP and carbon storage can decline precipitously (Dore et al., 2008; Meigs et al., 2009) and carbon stocks decline over longer time horizons as compared to forests experiencing lower fire severity (Hurteau and North, 2009; Hurteau, 2013). In fire-prone systems, the carbon carrying capacity - quantity of carbon that can be maintained under naturally prevailing conditions (Keith et al., 2009) - likely represents an appropriate target for carbon life-cycle management (Figure 2).



Figure 2: In dry, fire-prone forest types, the C stock varies as a function of the frequency of disturbance. An active fire regime results in a relatively stable C stock because frequent fires maintain fuel loads at levels that result in low-intensity fire. When wildfire occurs in the fire-excluded forest, the C stock is reduced below the carrying capacity. The C stock recovery following wildfire depends on the successional path of the forest recovery (from Hurteau, 2013).

Because forest carbon sequestration is a major part of the global carbon cycle (Canadell and Raupach, 2008), management actions that affect forest carbon dynamics are being increasingly scrutinized. In particular, the role of fire management, including its impacts on forest carbon and the resultant emissions is garnering substantial attention (Hurteau, 2013; Hurteau et al., 2013). Thus, quantifying the expected effects of management actions on forest carbon stocks prior to management implementation is increasingly important.

Forest management involves more than C stocks and fluxes, however, and over the last few decades traditional forest management and modeling has been modified to incorporate assessments of habitat conditions relevant to particular species. This has included efforts to identify and quantify stand structural characteristics such as coarse woody debris, multi-layered canopy structure, and shrubs that were not always included in inventory and assessment of forest biomass and timber stocks (Lindenmayer and Franklin, 2002). Now most forest inventories include assessments of these ecological attributes significantly improving models of listed or atrisk species habitat distribution and the influence of management actions on habitat quality. Recent advances in ecological forestry, however, have begun to recognize the importance of spatial structure across a range of scales in providing habitat characteristics that are not always

assessed with metrics based on stand-level averages (Abella and Denton, 2009; Larson and Churchill, 2012). In particular, silvicultural efforts to maximize tree growth through regular spacing may produce tree patterns that lack an ecological analog (North et al., 2009; Larson and Churchill, 2012; Larson et al., 2012).

Analyses of forests that historically had a frequent fire regime have consistently shown that tree spatial patterns are highly irregular, creating a diversity of habitat and microclimate conditions. A recent western U.S. meta-analysis of all spatially-explicitly forest studies with reconstructions of historic tree patterns found a consistent within-stand pattern of three conditions; individual trees (I), clumps of trees (C) and openings (O) (Larson and Churchill, 2012). This ICO pattern creates high within-stand heterogeneity, a structure associated with preferred nesting and resting habitat for some listed or at-risk species, while also providing conditions for successful prey base foraging (North et al. 2010). Current efforts have focused on quantifying these patterns using new spatial analyses (2<sup>nd</sup> order point pattern analysis (Sanchez-Meador et al., 2011)) and translating relevant information into silvicultural prescriptions designed to create desired ICO patterns at appropriate scales (Churchill et al., 2013; Lydersen et al., 2013). The goal of our wildlife research is to identify these patterns at each of the three DoD installations, provide metrics for silvicultural prescriptions to create these conditions and assess how different scenarios for managing forest C stocks might affect these attributes.

#### **Materials and Methods**

To address the objectives of this research we used growth-and-yield and ecosystem models to quantify the effects of three different management objectives on forest C dynamics. The models were parameterized and validated with field data for three installations: Fort Benning, GA; Camp Navajo, AZ; Joint Base Lewis McChord, WA (Figure 3). The overall technical approach followed that outlined in Figure 4.

Fort Benning, Georgia is an approximately 75,000 ha military installation in the Sandhills ecological region (Dilustro et al., 2002). Soils are predominantly loamy sands or sandy loams (NRCS, 2013). National Climatic Data Center (NCDC) climate data collected for this study show an average maximum temperature of 33°C in July, minimum temperature of 2°C in January, and mean annual precipitation of 119 cm. The landscape includes forest types dominated by longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris*), mixed pines: longleaf, loblolly (*P. taeda*) and shortleaf (*P. echinata*), and mixed pine-hardwoods. The dominant species in the mixed pine-hardwoods type include southern red oak (*Quercus falcata*), blackjack oak (*Q. marilandica*), turkey oak (*Q. laevis*), and mockernut hickory (*Carya tomentosa*). The installation also includes plantations of longleaf and loblolly pine. Stands range in age from less than 10 years to greater than 100 years. Currently, 47% of stands are  $\geq 60$  years old, the minimum age to provide red-cockaded woodpecker (RCW) nesting habitat.

Fort Benning is designated as a core population site for the federally endangered RCW (Dilustro et al., 2002; USFWS, 2003). Habitat loss is the major cause of RCW decline. In addition to requiring pines at least 60 years old for nesting, they require low density forests with an open midstory for foraging (Lignon, 1970). RCWs prefer longleaf pine, although they will occasionally use older shortleaf and loblolly pines as cavity trees (Engstrom and Sanders, 1997). Frequent prescribed fire and regular thinning are integral components of the RCW habitat management plan (USFWS, 2003). Longleaf pine is fire-dependent and in the absence of fire every 2-10 years, it is outcompeted by more fire-sensitive hardwood species (Glitzenstein et al., 1995).

Camp Navajo is an approximately 11,500 ha National Guard facility located approximately 16 km west of Flagstaff, AZ. Elevation ranges from 2083-2364 m across the installation and soils are primarily derived from basalt, although sandstone and limestone parent materials occur at lower elevations. NCDC climate data collected for this study show an average maximum temperature of 26°C in July and minimum temperature of -12°C in December. The annual precipitation pattern is bi-modal, with a distinct dry period in May and June. Mean annual precipitation is 51 cm. The forest is dominated by ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*), interspersed with gambel oak (*Quercus gambellii*). The majority of stands are 60-70 years old, with some old-growth stands (>100 years).

Camp Navajo provides habitat for the federally threatened Mexican Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis*, MSO), which require structurally complex older forests for nesting and roosting. Logging from the late-19<sup>th</sup> through mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, coupled with fire suppression contributed to homogenization of forest structure and decline of the MSO. The stand-replacing fire risk of this current forest structure poses a major threat to the species. Management priorities for MSO focus on reducing the risk of stand-replacing wildfire by restoring the historical forest structure typical of southwestern ponderosa pine forest (USFWS, 2012).

Joint Base Lewis McChord (JBLM) is an approximately 36,183 ha installation located southwest of Tacoma, WA. Elevation ranges from 1-196 m across the installation. Approximately 50% of the soils on the installation are prairie soils in the Spanaway complex or a derivation thereof and the remaining portion of the installation is a mix of other soil types (NRCS Web Soil Survey). NCDC climate data collected for this study show a mean annual temperature of 12°C and mean annual precipitation of 143 cm. There are three predominant land cover classes at the installation; Douglas-fir forest (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), mixed-forest with a substantial Douglas-fir component, and Willamette Valley upland prairie and savanna.

Joint Base Lewis McChord provides habitat for the western gray squirrel (*Sciurus griseus*, WGS), a species listed as threatened by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife since 1993 (WAC 232-12-011) and a federal species of concern. WGS habitat suitability is generally highest on the edge of prairies in the mixed forest with a Garry oak (*Quercus garryana*) and ponderosa pine component, habitat maintained by frequent fire. Efforts for bolstering the WGS

population at JBLM include removal of Scotch broom (*Cytisus scoparius*) from prairies and thinning at the prairie-forest ecotone to promote oak and pine growth (Vander Haegen et al., 2007).



Figure 3: Longleaf pine forest (*Pinus palustris*, top), ponderosa pine forest (*Pinus ponderosa*, middle), Douglas-fir forest (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*, bottom).



Figure 4: Work flow of the technical approach for project RC-2118.

#### **Field Sampling:**

Site selection for sampling was based on the objectives of this research, used input from natural resource managers at each installation, and was dependent on access as a function of training needs. Stratification utilized spatial data layers of forest type available at each installation. For each strata identified for sampling, all possible stands were selected and provided to training schedulers at each installation. Sampling from the population of stands for each stratum was determined by the scheduler at each installation. The number of plots sampled within each stratum was a function of the area occupied by the stratum within the boundary of the installation and access availability. Maps for each installation and the plot locations sampled are provided in Figures 5-7. The numbers of plots by stratum are listed in Table 1 for each installation.



Figure 5: Map of Fort Benning with sampled stand locations by stratum.



Figure 6: Map of Camp Navajo with sampled stand locations by stratum (East and West Buffer) and plot locations within the Limited Area. The East and West Buffer areas are part of the installation that provides a perimeter buffer for the secure Limited Area where the depot is maintained. The Limited Area does not have forest stands delineated because of the nature of the utilization of this area of the installation.



Figure 7: Map of Joint Base Lewis McChord with sampled stand locations by forest type.

Installation	Stratum	Number of	Number of Plots
		Stands	
Fort	Longleaf pine $\leq 10$ years old	6	63
Benning	Longleaf pine 30-59 years old	6	88
	Longleaf pine $\geq$ 60 years old	10	72
Camp	East Buffer, Pine	8	105
Navajo	West Buffer, Pine-Oak	3	51
	Limited Area, Pine	N/A	86
Joint Base	FT1: $\geq$ 50% Douglas-fir, prairie soils	16	110
Lewis	FT2: $\geq$ 50% Douglas-fir, non-prairie soils	21	198
McChord	FT3: mixed forest with Garry oak (Quercus	12	27
	garryana)		
	FT4: mixed forest no Garry oak	4	11

Table 1: Numbers of plots by stand type at each installation.

Field sampling used the same nested plot design at all three installations (Figure 8). The only variation in sampling that occurred was the diameter cut-off for sub-plots at each installation. Diameter cut-offs were varied to account for variability in tree growth and were the same for Fort Benning (FB) and Camp Navajo (CN), but increased for Joint Base Lewis McChord (JBLM) (Table 2). The overall plot size was 1/5 ha (25.2 m radius) to adequately sample larger trees which occur with reduced frequency. Nested sub-plots (1/10 ha, 17.8 m radius; 1/50 ha, 8 m radius) were used to measure smaller diameter trees that occur with greater frequency in the forest. Tree specific measurements included species identification, diameter at breast height (DBH), total tree height, height to base of live crown, and health status. If a tree was dead, snag decay class was assigned following Maser et al (1979). Regeneration was tallied by 5 cm height class within a 2 m radius of plot center. At each plot three 15 m modified Brown's fuels transects were established to measure surface fuels and coarse woody debris (Brown, 1974). Along each transect one and ten hour fuels (0-0.64 cm and 0.64-2.54 cm) were tallied in the first 2 m, One hundred hour fuels (2.64-7.62 cm) were tallied along the first 4 m, and one thousand hour fuels (>7.62 cm) were measured along the entire transect. All 1000-hour fuels were classified on an I-V coarse woody debris decay class scale. Litter and duff depth measurements were made at 1 and 3 m along the transect. A subsample of plots was identified to collect data on whole-tree leaf biomass and soil carbon. This subsample was selected to capture the range of conditions sampled. At Fort Benning, leaf biomass samples were collected from 17 longleaf pine trees, representing the range of tree diameters present in the total sample of plots, and 12 soil cores were collected at two different depths in sand and sandy loam soil types. At Camp Navajo, leaf biomass samples were collected from 8 ponderosa pine trees, representing the range of tree diameters present in the total sample plots, and 12 soil cores were collected at two different depths from three different stands. At Joint Base Lewis McChord, leaf biomass samples were collected from 6 Douglas-fir trees, representing the range of diameters present in

the total sample plots, and 12 soil cores were collected at two different depths from prairie and non-prairie soils.

Whole tree leaf biomass data were collected by harvesting branches, clipping all leaf biomass and weighing the leaf biomass using field balances. A subsample of leaf biomass was retained from each tree sampled, dried in the lab and re-weighed to determine dry weight of the leaf biomass. Regression equations were developed for the relationship between diameter at breast height and whole tree leaf biomass for each species. Soil samples were collected at 0-15cm and 15-30cm depths. Soil samples were processed at the Colorado Plateau Stable Isotope Lab to quantify total carbon.



Figure 8: Field plot design used for collecting stand structure data. The plot structure included a 1/5 ha plot with 1/10 and 1/50 ha subplots. Specific diameter cut-offs for subplots are identified by installation in Table 2. Three modified Brown's fuel transects (blue lines) were installed from plot center. Soil samples (red dots) were collected from a subsample of plots. Whole tree leaf biomass was also collected from a subsample of trees within plots (green rectangles).

Table 2: Diameter at breast height (DBH) cut-offs used for sampling stand structure plots.

Installation	1/50 ha DBH	1/10 ha DBH (cm)	1/5 ha DBH (cm)
Fort Benning	<u>&gt;</u> 5 cm	<u>&gt;</u> 30 cm	<u>≥</u> 50 cm
Camp Navajo	<u>≥</u> 5 cm	<u>&gt;</u> 30 cm	<u>≥</u> 50 cm
JBLM	<u>&gt;</u> 5 cm	<u>&gt;50 cm</u>	<u>&gt;80 cm</u>

#### Wildlife sampling methods:

Although methods and design varied between the three installations due to different listed or atrisk species and their preferred habitat conditions, the common focus was on analyzing within stand spatial patterns and scales and how trees might respond to treatment. Red-cockaded woodpecker (*Picoides borealis*, RCW) habitat has been extensively studied to identify stand and landscape level attributes associated with preferred use (i.e., USFWS 1985, Zwicher and Walters 1999). The RCW is associated with mature, often large, diameter longleaf pines, and unlike other woodpeckers, excavates nests in live trees, often those with heart rot. Fort Benning has excellent inventories of the location (212 active clusters) and stand conditions associated with known nest locations. In general nesting conforms to the preferred habitat conditions identified; yet some forest stands with these attributes are not used. It does not appear that lack of use is due to birds failing to locate these stands, as woodpecker densities and dispersal of fledged young are both relatively high across the base's full extent. The goal of our research was to quantify within stand spatial structure in three different forest conditions: high quality habitat with woodpecker nests, habitat considered low quality vet with woodpecker nesting, and habitat considered high quality vet without nesting woodpeckers. We defined RCW habitat quality following the guidelines specified in the 2003 US Fish and Wildlife Service RCW recovery plan. Using the databases provided by The Nature Conservancy at Fort Benning, we identified potential sample stands for each of these three strata. In the field we inspected each stand, including it in the study if 1) nests could be located (usually tagged by base personnel) and 2) forest conditions were consistent with inventory assessment (i.e., species composition, stand age and tree size). For stands used by woodpeckers, we centered our plots on known nest cluster locations. For the high quality stands that were not used, we centered plots around large longleaf pine trees similar in size and age to nest cluster locations in the stands with woodpecker use.

At each plot, all trees and snags  $\geq 5$  cm DBH were identified, measured, and mapped (x and y coordinates) using a surveyor's total station. In addition the height to the base of the live crown and visible cavities were identified for each tree. Canopy cover was assessed using a densitometer (vertical sighting tube), and quantified as the percentage of 100 samples point where canopy foliage obscured the sky. Shrubs were measured within five 25 m<sup>2</sup> plots systematically located across the plot. All data were entered into Excel spreadsheets and then imported into ArcGIS for analysis. For each tree location, we modeled crown size based upon field measurements of each tree (height to crown and two crown radii). Individual trees, tree clumps and openings were identified using the methods described in Lydersen et al. (2013), a modification of the 2<sup>nd</sup> order tree spatial statistics described by Larson and Churchill (2012).

At Joint Base Lewis McChord, a similar sample design and analysis were employed but with a focus on providing habitat for western gray squirrels (*Sciurus griseus*) (Gregory et al., 2010). Analysis of the western gray's movement and foraging patterns using radio telemetry have suggested an association with arboreal structure that provides interlocking or closely proximate tree crowns so that the squirrel does not have descend to the ground (Gilman 1986, Ryan and Carey 1995, Linders 2000, Gregory 2005). Observation and telemetry suggests crowns within a meter of each other may still be used because squirrels can jump that distance (Vander Haegen pers. comm.). At JBLM we used databases that identified known squirrel use areas and areas that had similar stand conditions but which squirrels had avoided (based on telemetry) or have

never been recorded (observations). We also required the avoided stands to have squirrels in adjacent forested areas to avoid sampling habitat that might be suitable but that squirrels have not reached. Stands avoided by squirrels were areas that had been thinned. We, therefore, recorded stump locations, sizes and species so as to reconstruct forest stand conditions that existed before stand treatments (see North et al. 2007 for methods). In each stand we mapped all trees and snags  $\geq 5$  cm DBH within a 50 by 50 meter plot. Canopy cover was recorded with a densitometer. The crown projection of each measured tree was modeled using field measurements of base to the height of the live crown and measurements of two perpendicular crown radii.

At Camp Navajo, ponderosa pine forests are treated for fuels reduction by thinnings designed to produce ICO patterns that may develop into habitat for the Mexican spotted owl (*Strix occidentalis*). Although most of the CN forests are presently too young and trees are too small to provide preferred habitat conditions, treatments are designed to accelerate tree growth while producing the clumps, individual trees and openings found in older ponderosa pine forests that are used by owls. Here the question was the tradeoff between thinning to accelerate the development of large trees versus the possible reduction in growth rate that may occur from leaving trees in clumps rather than evenly spaced. Installation personnel stated that a high research priority was improving silvicultural and fuels reduction treatments by identifying optimal tree clump and gap size that facilitated rapid tree growth while still providing within stand spatial heterogeneity associated with owl use.

At Camp Navajo, we identified fuels treated areas where mechanical thinning had reduced stand densities and left an ICO pattern. Within these areas we selected tree clumps and identified, measured, and mapped all trees within a 6 m radius around a 'target' tree. Each target tree was measured and then two increment cores were taken at breast height and 90<sup>0</sup> to each other. Cores were mounted, sanded, and crossdated using standard methods (Speer, 2010). Annual radial increment growth was measured using a scanner and WinDendro software (Regents Instruments). Each tree's annual basal area increment (BAI) was calculated averaging the two cores. We compared average BAI for the five years before the thinning with the 5 year average BAI starting two years following thinning treatments to allow for growth response to stabilize. To adjust for potential growth differences due to climate rather than change in stand conditions, we used a correction factor calculated as the average Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) values for the post-treatment 5 year period (starting 2 years after treatment) divided by the pretreatment 5 year period taken from the nearest gridpoint (88; Lat. 35°N, Long. 112.5°W). Stand density around each target tree was calculated using the mapped locations of all the trees within the 6 m radius and the Hegyi index (Das et al., 2008). This is a weighted index that reflects the relative crowding around a target tree accounting for the distance and size of trees surrounding the target tree. Das et al. (2008) showed it is a more effective measure of localized, relative density than Theissen polygon analysis. We analyzed how radial increment growth changed

following thinning treatments across a range of clumps sizes and densities to identify possible size and density thresholds that reduced growth response.

Analysis of data related to the wildlife habitat portion of this research involved the calculation of two different metrics of forest structure. Quadratic Mean Diameter (QMD) is a widely used measure in silviculture that assesses the central tendency of tree diameters rather than the arithmetic mean. The difference is that QMD accounts for basal area which has been shown to be a better measure of ecological resource use. QMD is calculated as:

$$QMD = \sqrt{\frac{BA}{k * n}}$$

where BA is the stand basal area, n is the number of trees, and k is a constant based on measurement units (k = 0.00007854 for BA in m<sup>2</sup>). The number of continuous crown paths is an attribute used to quantify connectivity. To quantify the number of continuous crown paths we used an algorithm in ArcGIS that connects tree polygons and then counts the number of uninterrupted lines (paths) that reach across the plot.

#### Modeling:

Growth-and-yield models are useful for predicting forest response to different silvicultural manipulations and the effects on aboveground carbon. However, aboveground C only represents a portion of total ecosystem C. Quantifying the effects of management actions on total ecosystem C requires the use of a biogeochemical model to capture belowground C dynamics. We had originally proposed to use the Forest Vegetation Simulator in tandem with Biome-BGC to simulate the effects of treatment on ecosystem carbon dynamics by using the relationship between DBH and leaf biomass to use the forest vegetation simulator (FVS) outputs to inform leaf biomass parameter values in Biome-BGC to capture the effects of thinning. However, given Biome-BGC's lack of a developed user-interface, we foresaw some difficulty in the tech transfer phase of this project. Consequently, we used LANDIS-II and the Century Succession extension as a platform for evaluating the effects of silvicultural manipulations on total ecosystem carbon. Point-level comparisons of the FVS/Biome-BGC approach and LANDIS-II approach were run for longleaf pine stands at Fort Benning. We found that the FVS/Biome-BGC approach underpredicated total ecosystem carbon and that the LANDIS-II approach showed no directional bias (RMSE 13.6 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>).

FVS is a growth and yield model that can simulate a wide range of silvicultural treatments for most major forest tree species, forest types, and stand conditions (Crookston and Dixon, 2005). Since its initial development in 1973, the basic FVS model structure has been calibrated based on decades of natural resources research. Because of its applicability to a wide range of treatments and forest stand conditions, FVS is the most widely used growth-and-yield model in the United States. The Fire and Fuels Extension (FFE) of FVS expands on FVS by incorporating models of fire behavior and effects, snag dynamics, and fuel accumulation. FVS simulates understory plant

growth and its contribution to fuels as a function of forest type and canopy cover to determine dry weight per unit area (Rebain et al., 2010). A new sub-model has been added that tracks carbon pools (Rebain et al., 2010). The carbon submodel uses genus-specific allometric equations from Jenkins et al. (2004) to calculate live tree carbon. This added flexibility allows us to track the effects of prescribed fire on life-cycle carbon management. FVS-FFE also provides the flexibility to simulate both wildfire and prescribed fire at user specified points or random points in time and track potential fire behavior and effects without initiating a fire event (Reinhardt and Crookston, 2003).

Biome-BGC is a process-based model that uses meteorological data, site characteristics, and vegetation parameter values to quantify fluxes of carbon, water, and nitrogen (White et al., 2000). The current version of Biome-BGC allows for the quantification of fire impacts on system fluxes and has been used to compare the effects of disturbance history on a number of coniferous forest types (Thornton et al., 2002). FVS outputs of forest structural attributes will be used to inform changes in leaf biomass in Biome-BGC to simulate carbon fluxes using this process-based model. We will estimate the amount of stand-level leaf biomass as a function of basal area and diameter distribution from FVS using the field data-derived linear relationships between diameter at breast height and species for each of the installations. Changes in leaf biomass as a function of changes in forest structure will be altered in Biome-BGC to effect change in the leaf area of the simulated system.

The LANDIS-II model is a spatially explicit forest simulation framework for simulating forest succession and disturbance across large landscapes (Scheller and Mladenoff, 2004). The landscape is divided into a series of interacting cells that can vary in size from meters to kilometers. The model uses an age cohort approach to modeling forest tree species distribution and growth. During succession, age-related mortality, reproduction, and cohort aging are simulated. In the event of a disturbance a new cohort is established, with mature cohorts in neighboring cells serving as the seed source. The framework will accommodate a site having multiple cohorts of a single species. LANDIS-II allows for the incorporation of ecosystem processes operating at different time-steps in the simulation framework (Scheller et al., 2007), inclusive of a biomass module that is linked to the process-based model PnET-II (Scheller and Mladenoff, 2004). In addition to the core model function, LANDIS-II has a biogeochemical model extension called Century Succession, which incorporates the Century model into the LANDIS-II framework to simulate belowground carbon dynamics (Scheller et al., 2011a). Within the model a landscape simulation area is divided into ecoregions. Ecoregions are differentiated by soil and climate properties (Ravenscroft et al., 2010). The ecoregion module also includes species-specific probability values for establishment (Scheller et al. 2007), an important attribute for this proposed research. Each ecoregion is divided into a series of interacting cells in which cohort dynamics are simulated. A species input file is required to define species-specific life history attributes that influence cohort regeneration, development, and mortality.

In the LANDIS-II Dynamic Fire and Dynamic Biomass Fuels extensions used for simulation fire in this project, fire behavior and effects are estimated using fuels and climate data using methodology adapted from the Canadian Forest Fire Behavior Prediction System (Van Wagner et al., 1992; Sturtevant et al., 2009). We adjusted the fuel parameters from conifer fuel types in the Canadian Forest Fire Behavior Prediction System using fuel models from Scott and Burgan (2005), field data collected as part of this project, and values from the fire ecology literature for each installation. Parameters were tested and considered to be representative of wildfire effects based on the resulting fire severity and mortality across the simulated landscape over the course of the simulation period for each installation. We used the LANDIS-II Leaf Biomass Harvest extension to simulate thinning treatments. The effect of thinning treatments is accounted for in the Century Succession Extension as a function of the amount of wood and leaf biomass removed during harvest. The proportion of each species-age cohort harvested that remains is the system is allocated to different dead carbon pools (e.g. leaf, wood, roots) and the effect of its decomposition is accounted for in NECB.

#### **Model Comparison of Land-use Practices:**

We simulated three potential land management practices at each installation: 1) carbon maximization, 2) wildfire risk mitigation, and 3) threatened/endangered species habitat provisioning. To develop a range of potential management actions that are ecologically appropriate for each forest type for simulating these three scenarios, we used a combination of literature reviews and discussions with managers at each installation. The installation specific treatments varied as a function of the scenario objective.

#### **Fort Benning FVS Treatments**

At Fort Benning, we simulated control, prescribed burning, thinning, and combined thin and burn treatments. The default fuel values in FVS were reparameterized with field data and the bulk density values of longleaf pine litter and duff determined by (Parresol, 2005). In the control simulation, no management actions were implemented but regeneration of all species recorded in the field regeneration plots was added every five years for the first 20 years of the simulation to reflect seedling dynamics until canopy closure. Each time regeneration was added, the number of seedlings per species was decreased by 25% due to the decreasing light availability.

Prescribed burning was implemented on a three year rotation to reflect current management at FB and throughout the region to promote continued dominance of open canopy longleaf pine. Burns were assigned under simulated weather and fuel conditions that reflect prescribed fire during the spring, including windspeeds of 12.8 kph at 6 m above the vegetation, temperatures of 21°C, and fuels were either coded as wet or dry. Dry fuels were used in some cases to ensure fire ignition in all stands, and fires were simulated to spread to 70% of the stand area. The same prescribed fire parameters were also used at Camp Navajo because these values fall within acceptable prescription ranges in both forest types. Fire-induced mortality estimates were found to be ecologically inaccurate for prescribed fire, particularly in the case of longleaf pine. Therefore, the automatic mortality calculation was turned off and replaced with a simulated

mortality for small trees that maintained an ecologically realistic number of trees throughout the 100-year simulation period (2% mortality for all trees 0-10.16 cm DBH in each fire). Regeneration of all species following each fire was based on field regeneration measurements in young ( $\leq 10$  yrs), maturing (30-59), and older ( $\geq 60$  year) stands.

Thinning prescriptions were implemented in year 2041 in the thin-only and in 2061 in the thin and burn, when the majority of young (initially  $\leq 10$  yrs) approached a stand density index (SDI) of 250, a point at which thinning is recommended to create future RCW habitat (Shaw and Long, 2007). The thinning prescription was implemented to reduce BA to 18 m<sup>2</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup> and was implemented in all stands that exceeded this density, including stands > 10 years old initially. This BA target was selected because the southern variant of FVS does not model crown fire. This BA target has been found to modify fire behavior in southwestern ponderosa pine forests and was selected because of the structural similarities between fire-maintained longleaf pine and ponderosa pine forests. Regeneration was added following thinning using the same number of seedlings as a prescribed burn. The thin and burn treatment used the same conditions for prescribed fire and thinning combined into one simulation.

#### **Camp Navajo FVS Treatments**

Treatments simulated at CN included control, prescribed burning, thinning and combined thinning and burning. FVS default fuel values were updated with field measured values. Prescribed burning was implemented every ten years, which is within the historic mean fire return interval for southwestern ponderosa pine in northern Arizona (Covington and Moore, 1994; Covington et al., 1997). Prescribed fires were implemented in FVS using weather conditions typical of prescribed fire application in the region: windspeeds of 12.8 kph at 6 m above the vegetation, temperatures of 21°C, dry fuels, with fires burning 70% of the stand.

Thinning treatments were implemented at the beginning of the simulation due to the density of stands at CN. The thinning prescription used a thin-from-below to BA target of  $18 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ , which is commonly used to reduce fire risk and push the forest toward conditions more typical of the historical fire-maintained forest condition (Fulé et al., 1997; Fulé et al., 2001). The thin and burn treatments used a combined initial thin, followed by prescribed burning every ten years. After each treatment that increased seedling resource availability (thinning or burning), regeneration of ponderosa pine and gambel oak (*Quercus gambelii*) was added based on field measurements, literature, and the scale of disturbance (ie. greater regeneration in the thin and burn when compared to burn only).

#### Joint Base Lewis McChord FVS Treatments

Treatments simulated at JBLM included control, prescribed burning, thinning, and thinning coupled with burning. Field measured fuel values replaced default FVS values. Regeneration was prescribed at each time-step based on field measured values. Prescribed burning was simulated every 15 years using windspeeds of 12.8 kph at 6 m above the vegetation, temperatures of 21°C, dry fuels, with fires burning 70% of the stand. Because prescribed

burning is relatively rare in this area (primarily in prairies), we applied the same prescription as CN. The thinning treatment at JBLM was designed to mimic current harvesting practices where 15% of the basal area is harvested every ten years. The thin and burn treatment included harvesting at 10-year time intervals with prescribed burning implemented every 15 years.

We also simulated targeted restoration of oak savannah on prairie soil types. The purpose of these simulations was to examine the C consequences of restoring habitat for the western gray squirrel. We identified a 708 ha parcel that had prairie soil and extant oaks. The simulation included complete harvest of Douglas-fir, thinning ponderosa pine from below, and prescribed burning. The objective of the thinning treatments was to increase light availability for oak regeneration and reduce competition for mature oaks.

# **Results and Discussion**

#### Field data summary

Diameter distributions varied by stratum within each installation (Figures 9-11). Current conditions were also influenced by past management actions. Carbon stocks varied by stratum at each installation (Table 3) and were calculated using genus specific allometric equations from Jenkins et al. (2004).

Table 3: Live tree carbon by stratum for each installation. Standard error is presented in parentheses.

Installation	Stratum	Live C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )
	$\leq$ 10 years old	16.2 (2.7)
Fort Benning	30-59 years old	29.6 (5.5)
	$\geq$ 60 years old	33.3 (2.4)
	East Buffer, Pine	70.7 (6.0)
Camp Navajo	West Buffer, Pine-Oak	50.1 (2.4)
	Limited Area, dense Pine	58.1 (5.1)
	FT1: $\geq$ 50% Douglas-fir, prairie soils	189.8 (7.2)
Joint Base	FT2: $\geq$ 50% Douglas-fir, non-prairie soils	196.2 (4.8)
Lewis	FT3: mixed forest with Garry oak	151.1 (9.8)
McChord	FT4: mixed forest no Garry oak	65.2 (12.1)

The relationship between whole tree leaf biomass and DBH was developed for the dominant species at each installation (FB = longleaf pine, CN = ponderosa pine, JBLM = Douglas-fir). Results show that DBH captures the majority of the variation in whole tree leaf biomass (Figure 12).



Figure 9: Diameter distributions for each stratum at Fort Benning. Note that the y-axis varies by stand type.



Figure 10: Diameter distributions for each stratum at Camp Navajo. Note that the y-axis varies by stand type.



Figure 11: Diameter distributions for each forest type (FT) at Joint Base Lewis McChord. FT1: > 50% Douglas-fir on prairie soils; FT2: > 50% Douglas-fir on non-prairie soils; FT3: mixed forest with Garry oak; FT4: mixed forest without Garry oak. Note that the y-axis varies by forest type.



Figure 12: The relationship between whole tree leaf biomass and diameter at breast height for the dominant species at Fort Benning (longleaf pine), Camp Navajo (ponderosa pine), and Joint Base Lewis McChord (Douglas-fir).

#### **FVS Simulations**

Simulations were run using the Forest Vegetation Simulator for each of the installations by stand type. Simulations were implemented using field data for all treatments and run over a 100-year period. Results for live tree, snag, and total stand carbon for FB, CN, and JBLM are presented in Figures 13, 17, 21. Diameter distributions at simulation year 50 are presented in Figures 14-16, 18-20, 22-24.

#### **Fort Benning FVS Simulations**

At FB, the influence of treatments on C dynamics varied as a function of stand age. By the end of the 100-year simulation, live tree C in the young stands with simulated prescribed burning, thinning, and thin/burn were not significantly different. End-of-simulation C stocks in the control were approximately 25 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> larger than the other treatments. The 30-59 year old
stands had a divergence in live tree C stocks over the simulation period. The control had the largest increase, followed by the thin-only treatment. The burn-only and thin and burn treatments were not significantly different from each other and were lower than the thin-only over the majority of the simulation period. The same pattern was present for stands  $\geq 60$  years old. However, the difference between the thin-only treatment and the treatments that included burning was much less. The same general patterns persist when examining the total stand C (Figure 13). The impacts of simulated treatments on forest structure varied by stratum, with young stands ( $\leq 10$  years old) responding differently than mid (30-59 years old) and old ( $\geq 60$  years old) stands. In young stands, the control, burn-only, and thin/burn treatments achieved stand structures similar to diameter distributions for field measured old stands (Figure 14). Mid and old stands responded well to treatments that included burning, with regard to stand characteristics that are conducive to providing Red-cockaded woodpecker habitat. By the middle of the simulation period, stands in these two strata were lower density and comprised of larger diameter trees (Figures 15-16).

### **Camp Navajo FVS Simulations**

Treatment influences were consistent across strata at CN due to the relatively homogenous nature of the forests at this installation (Figure 17). The control treatment consistently had the highest live tree and total C stocks across the simulation period. While the thin-only treatment resulted in a substantial reduction in C when implemented, end-of-simulation C stocks approached those of the control simulations. The burn-only and thin and burn treatments were consistently lower by approximately 50-60 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> than the control and thin-only treatments by the end of the simulation period (Figure 17). Treatments at CN had similar effects on stand structure across strata (Figures 18-20). Thinning early in the simulation period reduced the number of trees per hectare, but regeneration resulted in the thin-only treatment diameter distribution exhibiting structural characteristics similar to the control by year 50 of the Treatments that included burning pushed stands toward dominance by larger simulation. diameter trees by simulation year 50. Large numbers of trees in the 5 cm diameter class in the burn-only treatments are a function of regeneration and prescribed fire initiation timing within the simulation. Subsequent prescribed fires in the burn-only treatment reduce the number of individuals in the smallest diameter class.

### Joint Base Lewis McChord FVS Simulations

Forest types 1-3 had similar responses to treatments (Figure 21). The control simulations maintained the largest live and total C stocks throughout the simulation period. Live tree C stocks in the burn-only treatment were nearly as large as live tree C stocks in the control. Thin-only carbon stocks showed a slight increase throughout the simulation period, which was expected since the treatment was designed to provide a sustainable yield. Thinning coupled with regular prescribed burning resulted in slight declines in carbon stocks over the simulation period due to the effects of regular burning on regeneration.

Forest type 4 had fairly consistent C stock reductions with increasing treatment intensity. Overall, C stocks are approximately one-third lower in FT 4 than in the other forest types. One primary difference between forest type 4 and the other forest types was the response to the thin-only treatment. Regular thinning maintained fairly consistent C stocks over the simulation period in the other forest types. However, in FT4 the thin-only treatment increased by approximately 50 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> over the course of the simulation period. Diameter class distributions showed a similar response in stand structure to treatments across strata (Figures 22-25). The control and thin-only treatments show an inverse-J distribution typical of forests in the region. Simulations that included regular burning resulted in a distributions. Simulations that included regular burning resulted in the simulations. Simulations that included burning also had a much smaller number of trees per hectare because of the control that regular prescribed burning exerts on regeneration.



Figure 13: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third column) at Fort Benning. The first row is young stands, the second row is stands 30-59 years old, and the third row is stands > 60 years old. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs.



Figure 14: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 10 years old and younger at Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 15: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 30-59 years old at Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 16: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for stands with initial conditions 60 years old or greater at Fort Benning by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 17: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third column) at Camp Navajo. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs.



Figure 18: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for East Buffer stands at Camp Navajo by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 19: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for West Buffer stands at Camp Navajo by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 20: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Limited Area stands at Camp Navajo by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 21: Live tree carbon (first column), carbon in snags (second column), and total stand carbon (third column) at Joint Base Lewis McChord. Note the y-axis scale varies among graphs.



Figure 22: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 1 stands at Joint Base Lewis McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 23: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 2 stands at Joint Base Lewis McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 24: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 3 stands at Joint Base Lewis McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.



Figure 25: Year 50 simulated diameter distributions for Forest Type 4 stands at Joint Base Lewis McChord by treatment. Note that the y-axis varies by treatment.

## **FVS Simulation Harvest and Emissions**

Thinning simulations at FB were conditionally set to occur when SDI reached 250 based on recommendations for Red-cockaded woodpecker habitat. This resulted in thinning occurring 30 and 50 years following the initiation of simulations in the thin-only and thin and burn, respectively. The C removed during thinning was highest in the young stands (Table 4). Regular prescribed burning in the thin and burn treatment influenced both the timing and C removed during thinning (Table 4). Prescribed fires were implemented every three years, consistent with the current fire rotation at the installation. Emissions in young stands were larger and more variable than mid or old stands (Figure 26). Following simulation initiation, fire emissions leveled off at approximately 7 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> per decade (~2.2-2.5 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> for each prescribed burn) in mid and old stands (Figure 26).

Table 4: Mean and standard error carbon removed during thinning by treatment for each stratum at Fort Benning. Young stands are < 10 years old, Mid stands are 30-59 years old, and Old stands are > 60 years old.

Treatment (thin year)	Young (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>	Mid (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>	Old (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>
Thin-only (2041)	24.4 (5.1)	4.1 (1.5)	6.6 (2.8)
Thin/Burn (2061)	14.3 (6.0)	0.05 (0.05)	4.2 (3.4)

Thinning treatments at CN were implemented during the first year of the simulation based on the high degree of stand-replacing fire risk. Since the same thinning prescription was applied to the thin-only and thin and burn treatments, C removed was consistent across treatments with each stratum (Table 5). The lower amount of C thinned from the West Buffer reflects the fuels reduction treatments that have already been implemented in part of the stratum. Prescribed fires were implemented every ten years in each stratum. Patterns of emissions between treatments were consistent across strata (Figure 27). Burn-only treatments were consistently higher from the second prescribed fire onward. Thin and burn treatments were higher during the first simulated burn because of the added fuels from thinning implementation, but dropped to an approximate average of 3 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> by the middle of the simulation period.

Table 5: Mean and standard error carbon removed during thinning by treatment at Camp Navajo. Harvested carbon values are presented by stratum for the East Buffer (EB), West Buffer (WB), and Limited Area (LA).

Treatment (thin year)	EB (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>	WB (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>	LA (se) Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup>
Thin-only (2011)	15.7 (3.8)	6.4 (1.9)	10.2 (4.6)
Thin/Burn (2011)	15.7 (3.8)	6.4 (1.9)	10.2 (4.6)

Thinning treatments at JBLM were based on producing a sustainable yield of harvested wood volume and reflect current harvesting practices of removing 15% of the basal area with each entry. Harvests were simulated every ten years. Following the initial thinning entry, the thin-

only treatments had consistently larger carbon removals than the thin and burn because of the effects of regular prescribed burning on regeneration and mortality (Table 6). Prescribed fires were implemented every 15 years at JBLM. Prescribed fire emissions varied by forest type, but generally increased by the end of the simulation period for the burn-only treatment (Figure 28). Emissions in the thin and burn treatment oscillated between burns as a function of thinning implementation, with years that included thinning having larger emissions than interim years (Figure 28).

	Forest Type 1		Forest Type 2		Forest Type 3		Forest Type 4	
Year	Thin	Thin/Burn	Thin	Thin/Burn	Thin	Thin/Burn	Thin	Thin/Burn
2012	24.0	24.0	24.8	24.8	18.6	18.6	6.3	6.3
	(0.9)	(0.9)	(0.1)	(0.6)	(1.2)	(1.2)	(1.4)	(1.4)
2022	23.9	23.6	25.0	24.5	19.3	18.7	6.6	6.0
	(0.7)	(0.7)	(0.1)	(0.5)	(1.2)	(1.1)	(1.3)	(1.2)
2032	24.0	23.2	25.0	24.1	19.7	18.6	6.8	6.0
	(0.6)	(0.6)	(0.1)	(0.4)	(1.1)	(1.1)	(1.2)	(1.1)
2042	24.2	23.3	25.0	24.1	20.1	18.8	7.4	6.4
	(0.5)	(0.5)	(0.1)	(0.3)	(1.1)	(1.0)	(1.1)	(0.9)
2052	24.9	23.1	25.3	23.7	20.5	18.5	8.3	6.6
	(0.4)	(0.4)	(0.1)	(0.3)	(1.1)	(1.0)	(1.0)	(0.8)
2062	25.6	22.9	26.0	23.4	20.7	18.1	9.3	6.9
	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.1)	(0.3)	(1.1)	(1.0)	(0.9)	(0.7)
2072	26.5	23.1	26.7	23.4	20.7	17.3	10.6	7.6
	(0.2)	(0.3)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(1.1)	(1.0)	(0.8)	(0.6)
2082	27.3	23.0	27.5	23.1	20.7	17.3	11.9	8.0
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(1.1)	(1.0)	(0.7)	(0.5)
2092	28.1	22.8	28.3	22.8	20.6	16.7	13.2	8.4
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.0)	(0.2)	(1.0)	(1.0)	(0.6)	(0.5)
2102	28.8	23.0	29.0	22.8	20.3	16.2	14.4	9.0
	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.0)	(0.1)	(0.9)	(0.9)	(0.6)	(0.4)

Table 6: Mean and standard error carbon (Mg C ha-1) removed during thinning by treatment at Joint Base Lewis McChord.



Figure 26: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each stratum at Fort Benning. Note the y-axis scale varies by stand type.



Figure 27: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each stand type at Camp Navajo.



Figure 28: Prescribed fire emissions by treatment for each forest type at Joint Base Lewis McChord. Note the y-axis scale varies by forest type.

# LANDIS-II Simulations – Fort Benning

To implement LANDIS-II simulations, FB was gridded using a 200 m grid divided into four ecoregions as a function of soil type (Figure 29). The grid size was selected based on the average stand size of four hectares. Stand data collected as part of this research and inventory data from resource managers at the installation were used to assign forest types and species age cohorts to each grid cell (Figure 30). For example, longleaf forests were assigned a greater mix of species cohorts in a given grid cell designated as longleaf forest than a grid cell designated as longleaf plantation. Grid cells that fell within the range fans were excluded due to a lack of forest inventory data for parameterization. Species-specific parameters were obtained from the literature when available or estimated using parameter values from different species within the same genus (Appendix I).



Figure 29: LANDIS-II ecoregions identified as a function of soil type from the NRCS SSURGO soils database for Fort Benning.



Figure 30: Forest types assigned to 200 m grid cells based on inventory data for Fort Benning.

Control simulations were run in LANDIS-II to characterize the C dynamics in the system in the absence of management. Net Ecosystem Exchange (NEE) was negative throughout most of the simulation period, indicating that the forest types simulated were a net C sink (Figure 31). Ecoregion 4, which occupies a relatively small area of FB did achieve zero NEE by the end of the simulation, indicating that Net Primary Productivity (NPP) was equivalent to Respiration (R) for forest types in this ecoregion (Figure 31). NEE results are presented by ecoregion because of the influence of soil properties on NPP and R. In the absence of disturbance, soil organic carbon (SOC) increased in all ecoregions; doubling in quantity in three of the four ecoregions (Figure 32). Initial aboveground C stocks ranged from 0-50 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> for the forest types simulated had aboveground C stocks ranging from 50-100 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 34). At the conclusion of the 100-year simulation, aboveground carbon stocks had increased to 75-100 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> across the

majority of the installation (Figure 35). The spatial variability in C stocks throughout the simulation period is a function of the initial species composition and age distribution within each grid cell.



Figure 31: Net Ecosystem Exchange by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation. Negative values represent a net carbon sink. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion.



Figure 32: Soil organic carbon by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion.



Figure 33: Initial aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation.



Figure 34: Year 50 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation.



Figure 35: Year 100 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the control simulation.

Prescribed fire simulations were run using LANDIS-II with both the Century Succession and Fire extensions. For the prescribed fire simulations, fire was simulated stochastically so that one-third of the pixels burned every year. Within a given pixel, when fire is initiated, 70% of the pixel is burned. The three year fire return interval represents current management practice at the installation. Throughout the simulation period, NEE showed similar results to the control scenario by ecoregion, with ecoregions 1-3 being net carbon sinks throughout the 100 year simulation (Figure 35). Soil organic carbon declined relative to the control simulations. This is due to a reduction in organic inputs into the soil layer because of the repeated burning (Figure 36). Across the installation, aboveground C stocks varied as a function of forest type and fire

frequency (Figures 37-39). By year 50 of the simulation period, the prescribed fire simulations had a greater fraction of the land area in the 10-25 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> range relative to the control (Figure 38). By the end of the simulation period, the prescribed fire simulation continued to maintain aboveground C in the 10-25 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> range, while in the control simulation, all cells had surpassed this range (Figure 39). This difference is driven by fire-induced tree mortality from repeated burning.



Figure 36: Net Ecosystem Exchange by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation. Negative values represent a net carbon sink. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion.



Figure 37: Soil organic carbon by ecoregion simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation. Note the y-axis varies by ecoregion.



Figure 38: Initial aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation.



Figure 39: Year 50 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation.



Figure 40: Year 100 aboveground carbon stock values simulated in LANDIS-II with the Century Succession extension at Fort Benning for the prescribed fire simulation.

Installation wide, total ecosystem carbon increased under all treatment scenarios (Figure 41). The control TEC behaved as expected, becoming asymptotic by the end of the simulation period. A pattern that has been found in numerous forest conditions when disturbance is absent. The burn-only treatment also became asymptotic and had a mean TEC value that was 12% lower than the control at the end of the simulation period. The thin and burn treatment had additional carbon reductions due to thinning treatments. The higher sustained NECB for the thin and burn (Figure 42) was realized in TEC by continued increases throughout the simulation period. The thin and burn mean TEC was 22% lower than the control at the end of the simulation period.



Figure 41: Total Ecosystem Carbon over 100 years for three treatment simulations. Values are mean and standard deviation from 100 simulation replicates.



Figure 42: Net ecosystem carbon balance for the control (A), burn-only (B), and thin and burn (C) over the simulation period. NECB is calculated as net primary productivity, minus losses from heterotrophic respiration and disturbance. Values are means and 95% confidence intervals.

To test the effectiveness of treatments on reducing wildfire risk and the resultant effects on carbon dynamics, we ran a series of simulations over a 25 year simulation period. We shortened the simulation period because there is some evidence to suggest that a significant increase in broadleaved species can alter microclimatic conditions such that the ecosystem is less likely to burn (Nowacki and Abrams 2008). We parameterized the Dynamic Fire extension in LANDIS-II using historical ignition data for Fort Benning presented in Addington et al. (in press). We found that in the absence of longleaf pine restoration treatments and an active prescribed burning program, total ecosystem carbon declined substantially relative to the thinning and burning simulation (Figure 43). Total ecosystem carbon also declined in the thin and burn treatment, driven largely by the young age of restoration sites and the timing of wildfire events. There are two caveats that need to be considered when evaluating these results. First, we were unable to account for fire suppression efforts in these simulations. When an ignition occurs, the resultant fire size is a function of weather and fuels. Second, the short simulation period (25 years) does not provide information on forest recovery following large fire years. As we demonstrated in Martin et al. (2015), longleaf pine restoration treatments coupled with prescribed burning push the forest toward a more fire-adapted condition, albeit with a lower TEC state (Figure 41). However, the trajectories of the simulations with wildfire suggest that the restoration scenario is more high-severity fire resistant and could surpass the control TEC as the forests move toward more of the carbon being aggregated in fewer, larger, more fire-resistant trees (Figure 43).



Figure 43: Total ecosystem carbon over a 25 year simulation period inclusive of stochastic wildfire for the control and thin and burn treatments. Values are means and 95% confidence bands.

### LANDIS-II Simulations – Camp Navajo

To implement LANDIS-II simulations, CN was gridded using a 150 m grid divided into six ecoregions as a function of soil type and topography, because topography is a major determinant of climate in this region. We developed the initial forest communities layer using field inventory data collected as part of this research and age-size distributions from Fule et al. (1997) and Mast et al. (1999). We parameterized two species, Pinus ponderosa and Quercus gambelii, which accounted for greater than 99% of the biomass in our inventory plots. Species-specific parameters were obtained from the literature (Appendix I). Following model spin-up, the Camp Navajo landscape was a C sink with mean net ecosystem productivity (NEP) of 175 g C m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (sd=53). Dore et al. (2012), using the eddy covariance approach, reported a range of NEP from 19 (76) g C m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> to 174 (57) g C m<sup>-2</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> over a five-year period, inclusive of a year with significant drought. We used our inventory data and allometric equations from Jenkins et al. (2003) to calculate individual tree biomass and then scaled these values to a per unit area basis for comparison with simulated aboveground biomass values. Our inventory aboveground biomass ranged from 1917 to 25,645 g m<sup>-2</sup>, with a mean value of 12,106 g m<sup>-2</sup>. Our simulated aboveground biomass values ranged from 2084 to 14,032 g m<sup>-2</sup>, with a mean value of 11,540 g  $m^{-2}$ .

We simulated common forest treatment practices in southwestern ponderosa pine, including understory thinning to reduce fuel continuity between the forest floor and canopy and prescribed burning to reduce surface fuel loads. We used the Leaf Biomass Harvest extension to implement both thinning and prescribed burning treatments following Syphard et al. (2011). We used this approach for prescribed burning to facilitate wildfire simulations using the Dynamic Fire extension because both prescribed fire and wildfire cannot be simulated simultaneously in the Dynamic Fire extension. We simulated understory thinning by preferentially targeting the youngest cohorts of trees following common forest restoration practice based on historical forest reconstructions (Fulé et al. 1997, Finkral and Evans 2008). We excluded from treatment areas with slopes > 14% as these areas are operationally difficult to treat and are often nest sites for the Mexican spotted owl (Strix occidentalis lucida) (Prather et al. 2008). We ran a series of wildfire simulations prior to implementing thinning treatments to identify geographic locations with the highest fire risk (Figure 44). We then ranked treatment implementation timing as a function of fire risk (Figure 45). We implemented thinning treatments on 12% of the installation per year, minus the excluded areas, until all areas identified for treatment were completed. To simulate prescribed burning with the Leaf Biomass Harvest extension, we implemented a treatment that removed 90% of 1-10 year old cohorts and a small fraction of older cohorts to simulate fireinduced mortality. Following the thin and burn, fuels were reduced and crown base height was increased to simulate consumption by fire. The prescribed fire treatment used a ten-vear return interval.


Figure 44: Mean fire severity from simulations with random ignition at Camp Navajo.



Figure 45: The Camp Navajo landscape categorized as a function of fire risk and slope. Areas with slopes >14% were excluded from treatment.

We used the Dynamic Fire and Fuels extension to simulate stochastic wildfire events across the installation. We used the Coconino National Forest wildfire database to obtain data to parameterize the fire size distribution, ignition frequency, and seasonality. Following Scheller et al. (2011b) we adjusted parameter values from the Canadian Forest Fire Behavior Prediction System using spread rates in Scott and Burgan (2005). We ran simulations with two different fire occurrence probabilities (1 in 50 chance and 1 in 100 chance of wildfire occurence). These probabilities represent the lower end of the historic range of regional large wildfire probability estimated by Dickson et al. (2006). We used data from the KFAST station for Flagstaff, AZ to provide fire weather data and Fire Family Plus (Bradshaw and McCormick 2000) to evaluate seasonality and severity as a function of weather conditions. We used this extension to produce spatial fire severity outputs for each time-step. Fire severity is categorical and ranges from one to five, with one being low severity surface fire and five being high severity. At a severity of three, fires begin to torch (burn up into tree canopies) and can initiate a crown fire.

To evaluate the effects of forest treatments on C dynamics we ran three different treatment scenarios; control, thin-only, thin and burn. Both the thin-only and thin and burn used an understory thin to remove approximately 30% of the live tree C, an approach common for this forest type (Hurteau et al. 2011). The thin and burn treatment included a simulated prescribed fire implemented with a ten year return interval, such that 10% of the installation was burned by prescribed fire every year. We ran each of these simulations with three levels of wildfire; no wildfire, ignition probability = 2% yr<sup>-1</sup>, and ignition probability = 1% yr<sup>-1</sup>. We ran 50 replicates of each scenario for 100 years to capture the stochastic nature of wildfire occurrence. To quantify the effects of forest treatments and wildfire on C stocks and fluxes, we calculated the mean and 95% confidence intervals for total ecosystem carbon (TEC) and net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB). NECB accounts for both carbon assimilation from net primary productivity and losses due to respiration and disturbance (Chapin and Matson 2011). Our NECB values do not include carbon removal from understory thinning in our simulations, because the fate of the thinned biomass is variable in this region (Finkral and Evans 2008). To determine the effectiveness of forest treatments on altering fire effects, we calculated the mean and coefficient of variation for fire severity outputs from the Dynamic Fire and Fuels extension for each scenario using all time-steps from the 50 replicates. Analyses of simulation data were conducted in R using the Raster package and figures were produced using the ggplot2 package (R Core Team 2012, Hijmans and van Etten 2012, Wickham 2009).

At Camp Navajo, TEC in the absence of wildfire was consistently higher in the control than in either of the treatments (Figure 46). We had expected a sustained reduction in TEC with both treatments and a larger reduction for the thin and burn treatment. However, thin-only and thin and burn TEC had relatively small differences over the majority of the 100 year simulation. Treatments reduced mean TEC by approximately 100 g C m<sup>-2</sup> below the control in the absence of wildfire at the end of the 100-year simulation period (Figure 46). Thin-only and thin and burn treatments enhanced NECB relative to the control over the first half of the simulation period (Figure 47). The TEC and NECB results are likely due to growth release that occurs from thinning in southwestern ponderosa pine (Kerhoulas et al. 2013, McDowell et al. 2006). In simulations that included wildfire, the thin and burn treatment reduced both mean fire severity and its coefficient of variation (Figures 48 and 49). On the western edge of the landscape are areas excluded from thinning because of steep slopes and potential Mexican spotted owl habitat. The effect of slope interacting with fuels on fire severity is evident across all three scenarios, as these steeper areas had higher mean fire severity (Figure 48). However, mean severity tended to be lower than other treatments in the thin and burn because of the effect of this treatment on slowing fire spread. In the thin and burn, the areas excluded from treatment also had increased fire severity coefficient of variation relative the remainder of the landscape (Figure 49c). When the probability of fire occurrence was simulated at 2% yr<sup>-1</sup>, the thin and burn treatment had substantially higher TEC than the control and thin-only by the end of the simulation period (Figure 50). When the probability of fire occurrence was simulated at 1% yr<sup>-1</sup>, the control had higher TEC for the first half of the simulation period, but was surpassed by the thin and burn

during the second half of the simulation period (Figure 50). When we included wildfire in the simulations, the thin-only and thin and burn had enhanced NECB, while the control NECB decreased more rapidly with wildfire than in the absence of wildfire (Figure 51).



Figure 46: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the three simulated treatments (control, thin-only, thin and burn) in the absence of simulated wildfire over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines represent mean TEC by treatment for 50 simulation replicates.



Figure 47: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the three simulated treatments the absence of wildfire over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 48: Mean fire severity calculated from the 50 simulation replicates at Camp Navajo, AZ for the control (A), thin-only (B), and thin and burn (C) using a probability of fire occurrence equivalent to 0.02.



Figure 49: Coefficient of variation (CV) of fire severity across Camp Navajo, AZ for the control (A), thin-only (b), and thin and burn (C) using a probability of fire occurrence equivalent to 0.02.



Figure 50: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the three simulated treatments with the probability of wildfire occurrence simulated at 2% yr-1 and 1% yr-1 over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines are mean TEC and shaded areas 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 51: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the three simulated treatments with the probability of wildfire occurrence simulated at 2% yr-1 over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines are mean TEC and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals.

#### LANDIS-II Simulations – Joint Base Lewis McChord

To implement LANDIS-II simulations, JBLM was gridded using a 200 m grid divided into two ecoregions as a function of soil type. We developed the initial forest communities layer using the Landscape Ecology, Modeling, Mapping & Analysis (LEMMA) Laboratory's Washington Coast and Cascades gradient nearest neighbor (GNN) interpolated map (221) and database (LEMMA 2006, Ohmann and Gregory, 2002). The GNN technique incorporates regional grids of Forest Inventory Analysis (FIA) and USFS Current Vegetation Survey (CVS) plot data, spatially-explicit environmental data (such as geology, topography, climate), and Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) satellite imagery to predict forest composition at the landscape scale (Ohmann and Gregory 2002). The LEMMA GNN product has 30 m resolution. We used Arcmap 10.1 (ESRI 2012) to resample the GNN-based initial communities layer to decrease pixel resolution from 30 m<sup>2</sup> to 200 m<sup>2</sup> using a nearest neighbor resampling technique, and further reduced the number of unique communities by binning similar species composition and cohort ages. The aggregated layer included all listed GNN map species that occurred in at least 1% of the grid cells and occupied at least 10% of the basal area in a given GNN grid cell. The parameterized species include: Abies grandis, Acer macrophyllum, Alnus rubra, Fraxis latifolia, Pinus ponderosa, Pseudotsuga menziesii, Quercus garrayana, Thuja plicata, and Tsuga heterophylla. Species-specific parameters were obtained from the literature (Appendix I). We used our field data and genus-specific allometric equations (Jenkins et al. 2003) to estimate aboveground biomass for comparison with simulation data. We subtracted 100 years from current cohort ages and ran simulations from 1912 to 2012. From this output, we extracted year 2012 aboveground biomass (AGB) values from the 5533 pixels that contained forests. Plot data biomass ranged from 1510 to 82,414 g m<sup>-2</sup>, with a mean of 36,988 g m<sup>-2</sup>. Simulated biomass ranged from 416 to 65,535 g m<sup>-2</sup>, with a mean of 41,100 g m<sup>-2</sup>.

We used a full factorial design to quantify the effects of management actions on carbon dynamics. We simulated four management scenarios: control (no management), thin only, burn only, and thin and burn. Thinning treatments were designed to remove 40% of the net annual growth (45,000-54,000 m<sup>3</sup> biomass yr<sup>-1</sup>, Griffin 2007) and maintain forest cover. We used the Leaf Biomass Harvest extension to implement both thinning and prescribed burning treatments following Syphard et al. (2011). We used this approach for prescribed burning to facilitate wildfire simulations using the Dynamic Fire extension because both prescribed fire and wildfire cannot be simulated simultaneously in the Dynamic Fire extension. The thinning treatment targeted 70-180 year old cohorts of Douglas-fir and was simulated to occur on 1% of the land area with prairie soils and 0.5% of the area with non-prairie soils annually. We included 2% removal of cohorts of other species to simulate mechanical damage during harvesting operations. Within any given stand, thinning was limited to one entry during the simulation period and only in areas that had not been burned within the past 10 years. To simulate prescribed burning with the Leaf Biomass Harvest extension, we implemented a treatment that removed 85% of 1-26 year old cohorts of Douglas-fir, 90% of 1-5 year old cohorts of Oregon white oak, and 90% of 1-

15 year old cohorts of all other species. We limited prescribed fire treatments to prairies and Douglas-fir forest occurring on prairie soils. We excluded areas with trees > 300 years old, stands with late-successional conifer species, and riparian buffer areas from prescribed burning treatments. Prescribed burning in prairies had a five-year return interval and Douglas-fir forest on prairie soils had a twenty-year return interval.

To examine the effects of intensive management activities on Oregon white oak restoration, we developed an oak restoration treatment. We identified a 708 ha area that had prairie soil, did not include riparian areas, and included extant oak in which to test the effects of intensive management on increasing the probability of establishing oak savannah (Figure 52). Within this intensive management area, we simulated thinning and burning to reduce conifer competition to a level that would allow oak regeneration. The thinning treatment removed 85% of non-pine conifers and included regular burning.



Figure 52: Map of broad forest type classification for Joint Base Lewis McChord. The map includes the location of the 708 ha intensive Oregon white oak management area.

We used the Dynamic Fire and Fuels extension to simulate stochastic wildfire events across the installation. We used wildfire occurrence data from JBLM prairie fires (2007-2011) and US Forest Service forest fires within 100 km of JBLM (1995-5005) to obtain data to parameterize the fire size distribution, ignition frequency, and seasonality. Following Scheller et

al. (2011b) we adjusted parameter values from the Canadian Forest Fire Behavior Prediction System using spread rates in Scott and Burgan (2005).

To quantify the effects of treatment on carbon pools and fluxes, we calculated net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) and total ecosystem carbon (TEC). To quantify the installation-level effects of intensive management to favor oaks in the 708 ha management unit, we ran the thin and burn scenario at the landscape-level, with intensive management within the oak management unit.

At JBLM, the relatively young age of most forested areas lead to NECB increasing for the first 20 simulation years in the absence of treatment (Figure 53). As the forest matured the sink strength declined because of increased respiration. When we simulated the thinning alone, NECB peaked higher than in the control and was sustained at a higher rate than the control over the entire length of the simulation period. This result is due to the release effect from thinning, whereby the remaining trees are released from competition for resources. The burn only and the thin and burn treatment had the effect of decreasing the sink strength of the forest relative to the control for the first 30 simulation years, at which point the thin and burn had a sink strength to the thin only and the burn only had a slightly higher sequestration rate than the control throughout the remainder of the simulation period. (Figure 53).



Figure 53: Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) for the four simulated treatments over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area 95% confidence intervals.

As expected, total ecosystem carbon (TEC) decreased with increasing management intensity (Figure 54). Under the control scenario, TEC increased by approximately 50 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> over the simulation period. The burn-only and thin and burn increased at similar rates to the control, but with lower initial C stocks. The thin-only treatment, which was based on current sustainable harvesting practices, accumulated approximated 25 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> over the simulation period and had a TEC 8.8% below the control by the end of the simulation period (Figure 54). All simulations included the probability of wildfire occurrence developed from the JBLM prairie fire data and USFS forest fire data. The low probability of wildfire occurrence within the forested areas, coupled with high canopy base height for these Douglas-fir dominated forests resulted in wildfire having insignificant impacts on forest carbon dynamics.



Figure 54: Total ecosystem carbon (TEC) for the four simulated treatments over the 100-year simulation period. The dark lines represent mean NECB and the shaded area 95% confidence intervals.

To determine the effects of treatment on the probability of Oregon white oak occurrence at the end of the simulation period, we constructed probability surfaces using the 50 replicate simulations for each treatment scenario. We compared the empirical distribution functions for each treatment against the control using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. We found that the thinonly and thin and burn treatments both increased the probability of oak occurrence (p<0.0001) relative to the control (Figure 55).



Figure 55: Probability of Oregon white oak occurrence at the end of the 100 year simulation period under four different treatment scenarios.

Given the importance of the forest community type associated with the Oregon white oak, we investigated the potential for intensive targeted management. Within the 708 ha intensive management area, we found that through increased harvesting intensity focused on Douglas-fir, coupled with regular burning, the probability of oak occurrence increased substantially (Figure 56). Given the size of the intensive treatment area relative to the total installation size, the impact of the intensive treatment on total ecosystem carbon was negligible relative to the thin and burn treatment.



Figure 56: Probability surfaces for the 708 ha oak management area. The figure on the left is the thin and burn. The figure on the right is the intensive oak management treatment. The color scale ranges from 0 (white) to 1 (dark green).

#### Wildlife Results – Fort Benning

At Fort Benning, plots were widely distributed across the installation in an effort to sample a range of RCW habitat (Figure 57). We examined stand attributes associated with RCW use and were surprised that there was not a close associate with stand age or basal area (Figure 58). There were, however, three stand variables that were associated with RCW use: herbaceous cover, woody debris cover, and number of pine snags (Figure 59).



Figure 57: Red-cockaded woodpecker plot distribution at Fort Benning.



Figure 58: Mean stand age (left), longleaf pine basal area (center), and site index (left) for the three red-cockaded woodpecker habitat types sampled at Fort Benning.



Figure 59: The three stand attributes associated with red-cockaded woodpecker use were herbaceous cover (left), woody debris cover (middle), and number of pine snags (right).

The RCW appears to respond to understory cover and snag density. We did not find statistically different values for these variables between "high-quality" and "low-quality" occupied stands. We also evaluated spatial structure of nest tree stands. Trees were mapped within each sampling plot (Figure 60).



Figure 60: Example of mapped tree locations (purple dots) around a known RCW next tree (red dot) at Fort Benning.

### Wildlife Results – Camp Navajo

At Camp Navajo, analysis of tree radial growth response to different treatments and residual clump sizes and densities suggests there is not a significant reduction in growth potential. We did not find a consistent change in pre- and post-thinning mean annual BAI that was correlated with the density level around the 'target' tree (Figure 61). This result was unexpected because higher local density is usually associated with increased competition for growth resources (particularly water in ponderosa pine) and reduced growth. We did not make physiological measurements and therefore can only speculate about the putative causes for this result. All measured clumps bordered gap areas created by removing all trees. It may be that competition for soil moisture is reduced because tree roots extend into adjacent gaps to acquire more moisture. This may mean that adjacent gap creation is an important driver of clump tree growth response.

Our results suggest that thinning treatments do accelerate the radial growth rate of leave trees (>75% of post-treatment growth values are >1 in Figure 61) and therefore the development of large trees associated with preferred Mexican spotted owl habitat. Our results also show there was no significant reduction in radial growth increment associated with the stem density immediately around the measured 'target' tree. This suggests that retaining tree clumps designed to provide high canopy cover associated with owls, while also accelerating large tree development, may be possible if thinning produces gaps or low tree-density areas immediately surrounding the clumps of potential future owl habitat.



Figure 61: The ratio of post- and pre-treatment growth (average 5-year post BAI/average 5-year pre BAI) plotted against the change in relative stand density (as measured by the Hegyi index). Higher delta Hegyi values indicate a greater reduction in density.

#### Wildlife Results – Joint Base Lewis McChord

At JBLM preferred gray squirrel stands have high levels of crown-to-crown connectivity and a lower percentage of the plot area in gaps. Interestingly canopy cover and quadratic mean diameter (QMD) did not differ significantly between preferred and avoided habitat (Table 7). Past thinning has moderately decreased canopy cover and increased tree size (by thinning from below and removing smaller trees). Removing these trees and leaving overstory trees that are more regularly spaced, however, has increased gap areas and reduced canopy continuity.

Table 7: Comparison of mean structural attributes between stands with and without western gray squirrel use. \* indicate values between the two use categories that are significantly different (p < 0.05 t-test).

Gray Squirrel	# of continuous	% plot area in	Canopy cover	QMD (in)
Use:	crown paths	gaps		
Preferred	12.4*	8.4*	82	16.4
Avoided	3.6	26.2	71	20.8

We used stand structural data and stem maps to build models of canopy connectivity in ArcGIS by first plotting the tree locations (Figure 62 left), using allometric equations to 'build' tree crowns (Figure 62 middle), and then joining the adjacent crowns (Figure 62 right).



Figure 62: Process of canopy connectivity modeling. Stem mapped trees are plotted (left) and then allometric relationships are used to build tree crowns (middle). Connected crowns are then joined (right, purpled shaded areas) to identify connected canopies.

We used canopy connectivity models to calculate the number of exits out of each tree group that would allow western gray squirrels to travel out of the plot area. For the exit pathway analysis, canopy overlaps (Figure 62 right, purple shading) are dissolved to form tree group outlines (Figure 63).



Figure 63: Example of dissolved canopies for exit pathway analysis used to determine the number of exits available for the western gray squirrel to leave a plot.

We found a difference between plot types with preferred squirrel stands having higher levels of crown-to-crown connectivity and lower percentages of plot areas in groups. Interestingly, canopy cover and quadratic mean diameter were not significantly different (Table 7). Past thinnings have moderately decreased canopy cover and increased tree size by thinning from below to remove smaller trees. Removing these trees and leaving overstory trees that are more regularly spaced has increased gap areas and reduced canopy continuity.

#### **Conclusions and Implications for Future Research/Implementation**

The results of our research suggest that C tradeoffs are associated with various management objectives. Taking no action resulted in the largest aboveground C stock across installations. However, maximizing the aboveground C stocks carries the costs of reduced wildlife habitat quality at Fort Benning and Joint Base Lewis McChord and high risk of stand-replacing wildfire at Camp Navajo. In general, treatments that included both thinning and burning resulted in the lowest aboveground C stocks over the simulation period. However, the combined thinning and burning treatments resulted in stand development that increased focal species habitat and reduced wildfire risk. At Fort Benning and Camp Navajo, thinning treatments were a one-time cost in terms of C stock reductions, whereas at Joint Base Lewis McChord a sustainable harvest of 40% of net annual growth resulted in a consistent C stock cost of harvest throughout the simulation. It is important to note that these carbon stock outcomes do not include carbon storage in long-lived wood products, which can store C for substantial time periods. Total ecosystem carbon results from this study represent the lower bound of carbon storage because we do not account for any wood product storage. Estimating C storage in wood products requires knowledge of local wood products markets, which is beyond the scope of this project.

The other important consideration for carbon dynamics and forest management treatments is the effects of management on carbon flux. We evaluated carbon flux by calculating net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB), which is net primary productivity minus heterotrophic respiration and emissions from disturbance. Our results demonstrate that across all three installations, treatments result in an increase in the strength of the carbon sink. At Fort Benning, burning alone resulted in higher NECB than the control. However, similar to the control the burning treatment NECB decreased over time. The thin and burn NECB fluctuated as a function of the timing of thinning, but was sustained at a higher rate than both the control and burning treatments over the entire simulation period. At Camp Navajo, both the thin-only and thin and burn treatments increased NECB over the control for the first half of the simulation period and NECB for all three treatments converged in the second half of simulation period as the effects of competitive release from thinning diminished. This was largely due to the release from competition that occurs with thinning and that the thinning treatments were all implemented in the first 12 years of the simulation. At Joint Base Lewis McChord the thin-only treatment pushed NECB above the control, whereas the burn-only and thin and burn caused an initial decrease because of the additional losses from prescribed burning. Because NECB peaks by year 20 of the simulation in the control and begins to decline due to forest aging, the thin-only and thin and burn were stronger sinks than the control throughout the majority of the simulation period.

Fire emissions from repeated prescribed burning are a source of emissions from maintaining forest structure at each of these installations. An important finding from this research is that these regular emissions from burning are small and resequestered by tree growth and regrowth in the understory between fire events. Furthermore, these regular emissions need to be considered in the context of the emissions and lost net primary productivity associated with high-severity wildfire. Previous work has found that wildfire emissions and fire-induced tree mortality can have substantial impacts in terms of both direct (combustion) and indirect (decomposition) C emissions (Dore et al., 2008; Wiedinmyer and Hurteau, 2010; Hurteau, 2013) and treatments to reduce high-severity wildfire risk yield reduced tree mortality and direct emissions (Hurteau and North, 2009; Stephens et al., 2009; North and Hurteau, 2011). Camp Navajo, the installation with the highest risk of stand-replacing fire and the least productive of the three installations, had a sustained sink with prescribed burning. At Fort Benning, we found that including wildfire pushed total ecosystem carbon in the control below that of the longleaf pine restoration simulation that included regular prescribed burning. Wildfire probability at Joint Base Lewis McChord is quite low. As a result, prescribed burning has less of an impact on fire risk and is a more relevant management tool in the context of meeting specific structural and composition objectives.

The results from our investigation into species-specific forest structural attributes that increase patch use suggest that there may be important attributes that are less commonly considered. At Fort Benning, our results suggest that herbaceous cover and snag density are important attributes for RCW habitat. Herbaceous cover typically correlates with canopy cover and we found that occupied stands, whether "high" or "low" quality, had more widely spaced overstory trees than unoccupied stands. At Joint Base Lewis McChord, canopy connectivity appears to be an important factor for patch use by the western gray squirrel. At Camp Navajo, dense patches typically left during thinning to provide structural heterogeneity and potential nesting habitat for the Mexican spotted owl did not differ in post-treatment tree growth from trees that were not left in clumps. Results at all three installations require additional investigation, but suggest that there are some forest attributes that may serve as useful metrics for assessing habitat quality.

The results of this research should be considered in the context of the uncertainty associated with future changes in climate and its effects on forest growth and wildfire. Changing climate has the potential to influence post-fire C dynamics through reduced growth or vegetation type conversion (Hurteau and Brooks, 2011). This potential could change the risk evaluation equation by increasing both the probability of wildfire occurring and the consequence of wildfire on forest C dynamics. Military installations, in addition to having natural ignition sources, also have an increased probability of human-caused ignitions because of the potential for ordnance-induced fires. Drier future conditions, coupled with a higher probability of human-caused ignition could present an increase in wildfire risk. Climate-driven changes in productivity could also influence carbon dynamics, especially in the context of management. To date, there is some empirical evidence to suggest that thinning reduces competition for water and that there can be differential effects to drought-resistance as a function of tree size. Kerhoulas et al. (2013) found that large ponderosa pines were less impacted by drought than small individuals of the same species following thinning. Given that thinning reduces and burning treatments at all three installations

result in more carbon being stored in larger individual trees, this result warrants further investigation.

## Literature Cited

Abella, S.R., Denton, C.W., 2009. Spatial variation in reference conditions: historical tree density and pattern on a *Pinus ponderosa* landscape. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39, 2391-2403.

Addington, R.N., S.J. Hudson, J.K. Hiers, M.D. Hurteua, T.F. Hutcherson, G. Matusick, J.M. Parker. In press. Relationships among wildfire, prescribed fire, and drought in a fire-prone landscape in the southeastern United States. International Journal of Wildland Fire, doi:10.1071/WF14187

Agee, J.K., Skinner, C.N., 2005. Basic principles of forest fuel reduction treatments. Forest Ecology and Management 211, 83-96.

Bradshaw, L., E. McCormick. 2000. FireFamily Plus User's Guide, Version 2.0. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report, RMRS-GTR-67-WWW.

Brown, J.K., 1974. Handbook for inventorying downed woody material. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-16 Ogden, UT.

Canadell, J.G., Raupach, M.R., 2008. Managing forests for climate change mitigation. Science 320, 1456.

Chapin III, F.S., P.A. Matson, P.M. Vitousek. 2011. Principles of Terrestrial Ecosystem Ecology, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Springer, New York.

Churchill, D.J., Larson, A.J., Dahlgreen, M.C., Franklin, J.F., Hessburg, P.F., Lutz, J.A., 2013. Restoring forest resilience: from reference spatial patterns to silvicultural prescriptions and monitoring. Forest Ecology and Management 291, 442-457.

Covington, W.W., Moore, M.M., 1994. Southwestern ponderosa forest structure: changes since Euro-American settlement. Journal of Forestry 92, 39-47.

Covington, W.W., Fule, P.Z., Moore, M.M., Hart, S.C., Kolb, T.E., Mast, J.N., Sackett, S.S., Wagner, M.R., 1997. Restoring ecosystem health in ponderosa pine forests of the southwest. Journal of Forestry 95, 23-29.

Crookston, N.L., Dixon, G.E., 2005. The forest vegetation simulator: A review of its structure, content, and applications. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 49, 60-80.

Das, A., Battles, J.J., van Mantgem, P.J., Stephenson, N.L., 2008. Spatial elements of mortality risk in old-growth forests. Ecology 89, 1744-1756.

Dickson, B.G., J.W. Prather, Y. Xu, H.M. Hampton, E.N. Aumack, T.D. Sisk. 2006. Mapping the probability of large fire occurrence in northern Arizona, USA. Landscape Ecology 21, 747-761.

Dilustro, J.J., Collins, B.S., Duncan, L.K., Sharitz, R.R., 2002. Soil Texture, Land-Use Intensity, and Vegetation of Fort Benning Upland Forest Sites. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 129, 289-297.

Dore, S., Kolb, T.E., Montes-Helu, M., Sullivan, B.W., Winslow, W.D., Hart, S.C., Kaye, J.P., Koch, G.W., Hungate, B.A., 2008. Long-term impact of a stand-replacing fire on ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> exchange of a ponderosa pine forest. Global Change Biology 14, 1-20.

Dore, S., M. Montes-Helu, S.C. Hart, B.A. Hungate, G.W. Koch, J.B. Moon, A.J. Finkral, T.E. Kolb. 2012. Recovery of ponderosa pine ecosystem carbon and water fluxes from thinning and stand-replacing fire. Global Change Biology 18:3171-3185.

Engstrom, R.T., Sanders, F.J., 1997. Red-cockaded Woodpecker foraging ecology in an old-growth longleaf pine forest. Wilson Bull. 109, 203-217.

Finkral, A.J., A.M. Evans. 2008. The effects of a thinning treatment on carbon stocks in a northern Arizona ponderosa pine forest. Forest Ecology and Management 255, 2743-2750.

Fulé, P.Z., Covington, W.W., Moore, M.M., 1997. Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of southwestern ponderosa pine forests. Ecological Applications 7, 895-908.

Fulé, P.Z., McHugh, C., Heinlein, T.A., Covington, W.W., 2001. Potential fire behavior is reduced following forest restoration treatments. In: Vance, R.K., Edminster, C.B., Covington, W.W., Blake, J.A. (Eds.), Ponderosa pine ecosystem restoration and conservation: steps toward stewardship. Proceedings RMRS-P-22, Ogden, UT, USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Flagstaff, AZ.

Gilman, K.N. 1986. The western gray squirrel (*Sciurus griseus*), its summer home range, activity times, and habitat usage in northern California. M.S. Thesis. California State University, Sacramento.

Glitzenstein, J.S., Platt, W.J., Streng, D.R., 1995. Effects of fire regime and habitat on tree dynamics in north Florida longleaf pine savannas. Ecol. Monogr. 65, 441-476.

Gregory, S.C. 2005. Seasonal movements and nest site selection of the western gray squirrel (*Sciurus griseus*) in the Methow River watershed. M.S. Thesis. University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.

Gregory, S.C., Vander Haegen, W.M., Chang, W.Y., West, S.D., 2010. Nest site selection by western gray squirrels at thier northern range terminus. Journal of Wildlife Management 74, 18-25.

Griffin, S. 2007. Forest management and stump-to-forest gate chain-of-custody certification evaluation report for the forestlands managed by the: forestry branch, Fort Lewis Military Installation, Department of Defense. Scientific Certification Systems, Emeryville, CA 102 pgs.

Hijmans, R.J., and van Etten, J. 2012. Raster: Geographic analysis and modeling with raster data. R package version 2.0-12. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=raster.

Hudiburg, T., Law, B., Turner, D.P., Campbell, J., Donato, D., Duane, M., 2009. Carbon dynamics of Oregon and Northern California forests and potential land-based carbon storage. Ecological Applications 19, 163-180.

Hurteau, M., North, M., 2009. Fuel treatment effects on tree-based forest carbon storage and emissions under modeled wildfire scenarios. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7, 409-414.

Hurteau, M.D., Brooks, M.L., 2011. Short- and long-term effects of fire on carbon in US dry temperate forest systems. BioScience 61, 139-146.

Hurteau, M.D., M.T. Stoddard, P.Z. Fule. 2011. The carbon costs of mitigating high-severity wildfire in southwestern ponderosa pine. Global Change Biology 17, 1516-1521.

Hurteau, M.D., 2013. Effects of wildland fire management on forest carbon stores. In: D.G. Brown, D.T.R., N.H.F. French, B.C. Reed (Ed.), Land Use and the Carbon Cycle: Advances in Integrated Science, Management, and Policy. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, pp. 359-380.

Hurteau, M.D., Hungate, B.A., Koch, G.W., North, M.P., Smith, G.R., 2013. Aligning ecology and markets in the forest carbon cycle. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11, 37-42.

Jenkins, J.C., Chojnacky, D.C., Heath, L.S., Birdsey, R.A., 2004. Comprehensive database of diameter-based biomass regressions for North American tree species. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-319. Newtown Square, PA, USDA Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 45 p.

Keith, H., Mackey, B.G., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2009. Re-evaluation of forest biomass carbon stocks and lessons from the world's most carbon-dense forests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 11635-11640.

Kerhoulas, L.P., T.E. Kolb, M.D. Hurteau, G.W. Koch. 2013. Managing climate change adaptation in forests: a case study from the U.S. Southwest. Journal of Applied Ecology 50, 1311-1320.

Kirkman, L.K., Mitchell, R.J., Helton, R.C., Drew, M.B., 2001. Productivity and species richness across an environmental gradient in a fire-dependent ecosystem. Am. J. Bot. 88, 2119-2128.

Larson, A.J., Churchill, D., 2012. Tree spatial patterns in fire-frequent forests of western North America, including mechanisms of pattern formation and implications for designing fuel reduction and restoration treatments. Forest Ecology and Management 267, 74-92.

Larson, A.J., Stover, K.C., Keyes, C.R., 2012. Effects of restoration thinning on spatial heterogeneity in mixed-conifer forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 42, 1505-1517.

Lemon, P.C., 1949. Successional responses of herbs in the longleaf-slash pine forest after fire. Ecology 30, 135-145.

Ligon, J.D., 1970. Behavior and breeding biology of red-cockaded woodpecker. Auk 87, 255.

Lindenmayer, D.B., Franklin, J.F., 2002. Conserving forest biodiversity: A comprehensive multiscaled approach. Island Press, Covelo, CA.

Linders, M.J. 2000. Spatial ecology of the western gray squirrel, (*Sciurus griseus*) in Washington: The interaction of season, habitat and home range. M.S. Thesis. University of Washington, Seattle, Washington.

Lydersen, J.M., North, M.P., Knapp, E.E., Collins, B.M., 2013. Quantifying spatial patterns of tree groups and gaps in mixed-conifer forests: Reference conditions and long-term changes following fire suppression and logging. Forest Ecology and Management 304, 370-382.

McDowell, N.G., H.D. Adams, J.D. Bailey, M. Hess, T.E. Kolb. 2006. Homeostatic maintenance of ponderosa pine gas exchange in response to stand density changes. Ecological Applications 16:1164-1182.

Martin, K.L., M.D. Hurteua, B.A. Hungate, G.W. Koch, M.P. North. 2015. Carbon tradeoffs of restoration and provision of endangered species habitat in a fire-maintained forest. Ecosystems 18, 76-88.

Maser, C., Anderson, R.G., Cromack Jr., K., Williams, J.T., Martin, R.E. 1979. Dead and down woody material. In J.W. Thomas (technical editor). Wildlife habitats in managed forests: the Blue Mountains of Oregon and Washington. USDA Forest Service Agricultural Handbook No. 553. Pp. 78-95.

Mast, J.N., P.Z. Fule, M.M. Moore, W.W. Covington, A.E.M. Waltz. 1999. Restoration of presettlement age structure of an Arizona ponderosa pine forest. Ecological Applications 9, 228-239.

Meigs, G.W., Donato, D.C., Campbell, J.L., Martin, J.G., Law, B.E., 2009. Forest fire impacts on carbon uptake, storage, and emission: the role of burn severity in the Eastern Cascades, Oregon. Ecosystems 12, 1246-1267.

Mitchell, R.J., Kirkman, L.K., Pecot, S.D., Wilson, C.A., Palik, B.J., Boring, L.R. 1999. Patterns and controls of ecosystem function in longleaf pine - wiregrass savannas. I. Aboveground net primary productivity. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29, 743-751.

North, M., Innes, J., Zald, H. 2007. Comparison of thinning and prescribed fire restoration treatments to Sierran mixed-conifer historic conditions. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 37, 331-342.

North, M., Stine, P., O'Hara, K., Zielinski, W., Stephens, S. 2009. An ecosystem management strategy for Sierran mixed-conifer forests. In: US Department of Agriculture, F.S., Pacific Southwest Research Station, PSW-GTR-220 (Ed.), Albany, CA, p. 49.

North, M., P. Stine, W. Zielinski, K. O'Hara, S. Stephens. 2010. Harnessing fire for wildlife. The Wildlife Professional Spring 2010, 30-33.

North, M.P., Hurteau, M.D., 2011. High-severity wildfire effects on carbon stocks and emissions in fuels treated and untreated forest. Forest Ecology and Management 261, 1115-1120.

North, M., Sherlock, J. 2012. Marking and assessing forest heterogeneity. In: North, M. (Ed), Managing Sierra Nevada forests. PSW-GTR-237. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Resarch Station, Albany, CA, pp. 95-105.

Nowacki, G.J., M.D. Abrams. 2008. The demise of fire and "mesophication" of forests in the eastern United States. BioScience 58, 123-138.

NRCS, 2013. Web Soil Survey. United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service, Available online at http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov. Accessed 1 July 2013.

Ohmann, J.L., M.J. Gregory. 2002. Predictive mapping of forest composition and structure with direct gradient analysis and nearest neighbor imputation in coastal Oregon, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32, 725-741.

Parresol, B.R., 2005. Report on analysis of forest floor bulk density and depth at the Savannah River site. USDA Forest Service, Southern Research Station, Asheville, NC 28804.

Prather, J.W., R.F. Noss, T.D. Sisk. 2008. Real versus perceived conflicts between restoration of ponderosa pine forests and conservation of the Mexican spotted owl. Forest Policy and Economics 10:140-150.

Ravenscroft, C., Scheller, R.M., Mladenoff, D.J., White, M.A., 2010. Forest restoration in a mixed-ownership landscape under climate change. Ecological Applications 20, 327-346.

Rebain, S.A., Reinhardt, E.D., Crookston, N.L., Beukema, S.J., Kurz, W.A., Greenough, J.A., Robinson, D.C.E., Lutes, D.C., 2010. The Fire and Fuels Extension to the Forest Vegetation Simulator: updated model documentation. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Forest Management Center, Fort Collins, CO, p. 364p.

Reinhardt, E., Crookston, N.L., 2003. The Fire and Fuels Extension to the Forest Vegetation Simulator. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-116, USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, 209 p.

Ryan, L.A., Cary, A.B. 1995. Distribution and habitat of the western gray squirrel (*Sciurus griseus*) on Fort Lewis, Washington. Northwest Science 69, 204-216.

Sanchez-Meador, A.J., Parysow, P.F., Moore, M.M., 2011. A new method for delineating tree patches and assessing spatial reference conditions of ponderosa pine forests in Northern Arizona. Restoration Ecology 19, 490-499.

Scheller, R.M., Mladenoff, D.J., 2004. A forest growth and biomass module for a landscape simulation model, LANDIS: design, validation, and application. Ecological Modelling 180, 211-229.

Scheller, R.M., Domingo, J.B., Sturtevant, B.R., Williams, J.S., Rudy, A., Gustafson, E.J., Mladenoff, D.J., 2007. Design, development, and application of LANDIS-II, a spatial landscape simulation model with flexible temporal and spatial resolution. Ecological Modelling 201, 409-419.

Scheller, R.M., Hua, D., Bolstad, P.V., Birdsey, R.A., Mladenoff, D.J., 2011a. The effects of forest harvest intensity in combination with wind disturbance on carbon dynamics in Lake States Mesic Forests. Ecological Modeling 222, 144-153.

Scheller, R.M., Van Tuyl, S., Clark, K.L., Hom, J., La Puma, I., 2011b. Carbon Sequestration in the New Jersey Pine Barrens Under Different Scenarios of Fire Management. Ecosystems 14, 987-1004.

Scott, J.H., Burgan, R.E., 2005. Standard fire behavior fuel models: a comprehensive set for use with Rothermel's surface fire spread model. The Bark Beetles, Fuels, and Fire Bibliography, 66.

Shaw, J.D., Long, J.N., 2007. A density management diagram for longleaf pine stands with application to red-cockaded woodpecker habitat. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry 31, 28-38.

Speer, J.H., 2010. Fundamentals of tree-ring research. University of Arizona Press, Phoenix, AZ.

Stephens, S.L., Moghaddas, J.J., Hartsough, B.R., Moghaddas, E.E.Y., Clinton, N.E., 2009. Fuel treatment effects on stand-level carbon pools, treatment-related emissions, and fire risk in a Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39, 1538-1547.

Sturtevant, B.R., Scheller, R.M., Miranda, B.R., Shinneman, D., Syphard, A., 2009. Simulating dynamic and mixed-severity fire regimes: A process-based fire extension for LANDIS-II. Ecological Modelling 220, 3380-3393.

Syphard, A.D., R.M. Scheller, B.C. Ward, W.D. Spencer, J.R. Strittholt. 2011. Simulating landscape-scale effects of fuels treatments in the Sierra Nevada, California, USA. International Journal of Wildland Fire 20:364-383.

Thornton, P.E., Law, B.E., Gholz, H.L., Clark, K.L., Falge, E., Ellsworth, D.S., Goldstein, A.H., Monson, R.K., Hollinger, D., Falk, M., Chen, J., Sparks, J.P., 2002. Modeling and measuring the effects of disturbance history and climate on carbon and water budgets in evergreen needleleaf forests. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 113, 185-222.

USFWS, 1985. Red-cockaded woodpecker recovery plan. In: Interior, D.o. (Ed.), Atlanta, GA.

USFWS, 2003. Recovery plan for the red-cockaded woodpecker (*Picoides borealis*): second revision United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Atlanta, GA, USA, p. 296.

USFWS, 2012. Mexican spotted owl recovery plan, first revision. United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Albuquerque, New Mexico, p. 392.

Van Wagner, C.E., Stocks, B.J., Lawson, B.D., Alexander, M.E., Lynham, T.J., McAlpine, R.S., 1992. Development and strucutre of the Canadian forest fire behavior prediction system. Fire Danger Group, Forestry Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Vander Haegen, W.M., Gregory, S.C., Linders, M.J., 2007. Implementation plan for augmentation of the Western Gray Squirrel population, Fort Lewis, Washington. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia, WA. P. 34.

Varner, J.M., Gordon, D.R., Putz, E., Hiers, J.K., 2005. Restoring fire to long-unburned Pinus palustris ecosystems: Novel fire effects and consequences for long-unburned ecosystems. Restor. Ecol. 13, 536-544.

White, M.A., Thornton, P.E., Running, S.W., Nemani, R.R., 2000. Parameterization and sensitivity analysis of the BIOME-BGC terrestrial ecosystem model: net primary production controls. Earth Interactions 4, 1-85.

Wickham, H. 2009. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer, New York, NY.

Wiedinmyer, C., Hurteau, M.D., 2010. Prescribed fire as a means of reducing forest carbon emissions in the western U.S. Environmental Science and Technology 44, 1926-1932.

Zwicher, S.M., Walters, J.R., 1999. Selection of pines for foraging by red-cockaded woodpeckers. Journal of Wildlife Management 63, 843-852.

# Appendix A

Appendix A contains parameter values used for LANDIS-II simulations and a list of references used to determine parameter values for each installation.

Species	Longevity (years)	Sexual Maturity (years)	Shade Tolerance (1-5)	Fire Tolerance (1-5)	Effective Seed Dispersal Distance (m)	Maximum Seed Dispersal Distance (m)
Pinus palustris	400	30	1	5	30	200
Pinus taeda	350	15	2	4	45	200
Pinus echinata	350	20	1	4	30	200
Quercus falcata	150	25	3	2	30	500
Quercus alba	300	20	3	3	30	500
Quercus marilandica	300	5	2	3	30	500
Carya tomentosa	300	25	3	1	30	500
Liquidambar styraciflua	350	20	2	1	60	180
Acer rubrum	250	10	4	1	100	1000
Quercus laevis	150	10	2	2	30	500

Table A1: Species-specific parameter values used for the species file at Fort Benning.

Species	Vegetative reproduction probability (0-1)	Minimum age of sprouting	Maximum age of sprouting	Post-fire Regeneration
Pinus palustris	0	0	3	None
Pinus taeda	0	0	3	None
Pinus echinata	0	0	25	Resprout
Quercus falcata	0.75	5	20	Resprout
Quercus alba	0.5	5	40	Resprout
Quercus	0.75	5	50	Resprout
marilandica				
Carya tomentosa	0.75	1	250	Resprout
Liquidambar	0.75	5	50	Resprout
styraciflua				
Acer rubrum	0.5	10	150	None
Quercus laevis	0.75	5	50	Resprout

Table A2: Species-specific parameter values for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Fort Benning.

Species	Functional Type	N Fixation	Growing Degree Days Min	Growing Degree Days Max	Minimum Jan Temp	Max Drought	Leaf Longevity	Epicormic Sprouting
Pinus palustris	1	Ν	4000	7000	3	0.423	2	Ν
Pinus taeda	1	Ν	4000	7000	1	0.360	3	Ν
Pinus echinata	1	Ν	4000	7000	1	0.423	3	Ν
Quercus falcata	2	Ν	4000	7000	-5	0.423	1	Ν
Quercus alba	2	Ν	3176	7000	1	0.330	1	Ν
Quercus marilandica	2	Ν	4000	7000	1	0.423	1	Ν
Carya tomentosa	2	Ν	3788	7000	1	0.300	1	Ν
Liquidambar styraciflua	2	N	3912	7000	1	0.300	1	Ν
Acer rubrum	2	Ν	1260	7000	-18	0.230	1	Ν
Quercus laevis	2	N	4000	7000	1	0.423	1	Ν

Species	Leaf Lignin	Fine Root Lignin	Wood Lignin	Coarse Root Lignin	Leaf C:N	Fine Root C:N	Wood C:N	Coarse Root C:N	Litter C:N
Pinus	0.2	0.35	0.35	0.35	50	50	380	170	100
palustris Dimensional m	0.2	0.25	0.25	0.25	50	50	200	170	100
Pinus iaeaa	0.2	0.35	0.35	0.35	50	50	380	170	100
Pinus echinata	0.2	0.35	0.35	0.35	50	50	380	170	100
Quercus falcata	0.293	0.23	0.23	0.35	24	48	500	333	55
Quercus alba	0.367	0.23	0.23	0.23	24	48	500	333	55
Quercus marilandica	0.293	0.23	0.23	0.35	24	48	500	333	55
Carya tomentosa	0.293	0.23	0.23	0.23	24	48	500	333	55
Liquidambar styraciflua	0.331	0.255	0.255	0.255	25	45	90	90	45
Acer rubrum	0.223	0.255	0.255	0.255	20	45	90	90	45
Quercus laevis	0.293	0.23	0.23	0.35	24	48	500	333	55

Table A3: Functional	group parameters for	or the Century Su	ccession extension	on of LANDIS-II fo	r
Fort Benning.					

Functional Group Name	Index	PPDF1 T-Mean	PPDF2 T-Max	PPDF3 T- Shape	PPDF4- T-Shape	FCFRAC Leaf	BTOLAI	KLAI	MAXLAI
Pine	1	28.0	45.0	4.5	5.0	0.37	0.00823	1000.0	10.0
Hardwood	2	27.0	45.0	3.0	3.5	0.5	0.00823	1000.0	20.0

Functional Group Name	Index	PPRPTS2	PPRPTS3	Wood Decay Rate	Monthly Wood Mortality	Mortality Age Shape	Leaf Drop Month
Pine	1	1.0	0.8	0.6	0.003	15	10
Hardwood	2	1.0	0.8	0.6	0.003	15	10

Table A4: Ecoregion parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Fort Benning.

InitialE	Coregior	nParame	ters							
Name	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM2	SOM2	SOM3	SOM3	Minrl	
		С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	Ν
		surf	surf	soil	soil					
Eco1		136.8	1.52	62.6	5.21	876.4	17.5	626.0	15.7	0.9
Eco2		98.4	1.09	124.2	10.4	1739.0	34.8	1242.1	31.1	0.9
Eco3		139.7	1.55	157.1	13.1	2199.4	44.0	1571.0	39.3	0.7
Eco4		139.7	1.55	31.5	2.62	441.4	8.8	315.3	7.88	0.7

	Soil Depth	% Clay	% Sand	Field Cap	Wilt Point	StormF Frac	BaseF Frac	Drain	Atm N dep	Atm N intercept	Latitude
Eco1	100	0.06	0.84	0.16	0.06	0.4	0.1	1.0	0.006	0.02	32
Eco2	100	0.12	0.66	0.23	0.10	0.4	0.1	1.0	0.006	0.02	32
Eco3	100	0.34	0.30	0.35	0.16	0.4	0.1	0.9	0.006	0.02	32
Eco4	100	0.36	0.53	0.32	0.17	0.4	0.1	0.9	0.006	0.02	32

Ecoregion Parameters cont	Decay Surf	Decay SOM1	Decay SOM2	Decay SOM3	Denitrifi
Eco1	0.127	0.305	0.0224	0.00008	0.03
Eco2	0.19	0.242	0.0134	0.00008	0.03
Eco3	0.134	0.332	0.013	0.00019	0.03
Eco4	0.15	1.08	0.0654	0.00058	0.03

Table A5: Species productivity parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Fort Benning.

	Eco1	Eco2	Eco3	Eco4	
PIPA	110	125	150	150	
PITA	110	125	150	150	
PIEC	110	125	150	150	
QUFA	100	100	120	120	
QUAL	90	100	120	120	
QUMA	90	100	110	110	
CATO	90	100	120	120	
LIST	80	90	140	140	
ACRU	80	90	120	120	
QULA	90	100	110	110	

MonthlyMaxNPP (g m<sup>-2</sup> month<sup>-1</sup>)

Maximum Biomass (g m<sup>-2</sup>)

	Eco1	Eco2	Eco3	Eco4
PIPA	21000	22000	24000	24000
PITA	21000	22000	24000	24000
PIEC	21000	22000	24000	24000
QUFA	21000	22000	22000	22000
QUAL	20000	22000	24000	24000
QUMA	20000	20000	21000	21000
CATO	20000	22000	24000	24000
LIST	15000	16000	24000	24000
ACRU	15000	16000	23000	23000
QULA	20000	20000	21000	21000

Species	Longevity (years)	Sexual Maturity (years)	Shade Tolerance (1-5)	Fire Tolerance (1-5)	Effective Seed Dispersal Distance (m)	Maximum Seed Dispersal Distance (m)
Pinus ponderosa	400	7	2	4	35	120
Quercus gambelii	90	3	3	3	30	1000

Table A6: Species-specific parameter values used for the species file for Camp Navajo.

Species	Vegetative reproduction probability (0-1)	Minimum age of sprouting	Maximum age of sprouting	Post-fire Regeneration
Pinus ponderosa	0	0	3	None
Quercus gambelii	0.75	1	80	resprout

Table A7: Species-specific parameter values for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Camp Navajo.

Species	Functional Type	l N Fixatio	Growin n Degree Days Min	ng Growi e Degre Days Max	ing Mini e Jan T	mum Temp	Max Drought	Leaf Longevity	Epicormic Sprouting
Pinus ponderosa	1	N	155	4000	-5		0.92	4.5	N
Quercus gambelii	2	Ν	800	4000	-5		0.90	1.0	Y
Species	Leaf Lignin	Fine Root Lignin	Wood Lignin	Coarse Root Lignin	Leaf C:N	Fine Root C:N	Wood C:N	l Coarse Root C:N	Litter C:N
Pinus ponderosa	0.28	0.2	0.25	0.25	48	48	250	170	100
Quercus	0.175	0.23	0.23	0.23	30	48	500	333	46

gambelii

Functional Group Name	Index	PPDF1 T- Mean	PPDF2 T-Max	PPDF3 T- Shape	PPDF4- T- Shape	FCFRAC Leaf	BTOLAI	KLAI	MAXLAI
Pine	1	23.0	38.0	0.05	6.0	0.2	0.004	5000.0	10.0
Hardwood	2	23.0	35.0	0.05	7.0	0.3	0.004	5000.0	20.0

Table A8: Functional group parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Camp Navajo.

Functional Group Name	Index	PPRPTS2	PPRPTS3	Wood Decay Rate	Monthly Wood Mortality	Mortality Age Shape	Leaf Drop Month
Pine	1	1.0	0.5	0.4	0.002	10	10
Hardwood	2	1.0	0.5	0.4	0.002	10	10

Table A9: Ecoregion parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Camp Navajo.

InitialEcoregionParameters										
Name	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM2	SOM2	SOM3	SOM3	Minrl	
	С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	N	
	surf	surf	soil	soil						
Eco1	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	
Eco2	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	
Eco3	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	
Eco4	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	
Eco5	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	
Eco6	412	4.5	90	7.5	2100	42	810	20	2.4	

	Soil	%	%	Field	Wilt	StormF	BaseF	Drain	Atm	Atm N	Latitude
	Depth	Clay	Sand	Сар	Point	Frac	Frac		N dep	intercept	
Eco1	100	0.13	0.55	0.24	0.09	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2
Eco2	100	0.30	0.34	0.33	0.14	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2
Eco3	100	0.30	0.34	0.33	0.14	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2
Eco4	100	0.13	0.55	0.24	0.09	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2
Eco5	100	0.30	0.34	0.33	0.14	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2
Eco6	100	0.30	0.34	0.33	0.14	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.035	0.004	35.2

Ecoregion Parameters cont	Decay Surf	Decay SOM1	Decay SOM2	Decay SOM3	Denitrifi
Eco1	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1
Eco2	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1
Eco3	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1
Eco4	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1
Eco5	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1
Eco6	0.15	1.0	0.018	0.00035	0.1

Table A10: Species productivity parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for Camp Navajo.

MonthlyMaxNPP (g m<sup>-2</sup> month<sup>-1</sup>)

	Eco1	Eco2	Eco3	Eco4	Eco5	Eco6	
PIPO	150	150	150	150	150	150	
QUGA	75	75	75	75	75	75	

Maximum Biomass (g m<sup>-2</sup>)

	Eco1	Eco2	Eco3	Eco4	Eco5	Eco6
PIPO	16000	16000	16000	16000	16000	16000
QUGA	10000	10000	10000	10000	10000	10000
Species	Longevi ty (years)	Sexual Maturity (years)	Shade Tolerance (1-5)	Fire Tolerance (1-5)	Effective Seed Dispersal Distance (m)	Maximum Seed Dispersal Distance (m)
--------------------------	--------------------------	-------------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------	---	---
Abies grandis	300	20	4	2	54	100
Acer macrophyllum	150	20	2	2	15	120
Alnus rubra	100	10	2	2	50	100
Fraxis latifolia	150	30	3	2	5	300
Pinus ponderosa	600	16	2	5	37	120
Pseudotsuga menziesii	750	25	3	3	100	1500
Quercus garryana	500	20	2	4	6	400
Thuja plicata	1000	25	5	2	100	122
Tsuga heterophylla	400	30	5	1	100	1600

Table A11: Species-specific parameter values used for the species file for JBLM.

Species	Vegetative reproduction probability (0-1)	Minimum age of sprouting	Maximum age of sprouting	Post-fire Regeneration
Abies grandis	0	0	0	None
Acer macronhyllum	0.7	0	100	rosprout
macrophynum	0.7	0	100	resprout
Alnus rubra	0.7	0	10	resprout
Fraxis latifolia	0.7	0	100	resprout
Pinus				
ponderosa	0	0	3	None
Pseudotsuga				
menziesii	0	0	0	None
Quercus				
garryana	0.7	0	200	resprout
Thuja plicata	0.5	0	200	None
Tsuga				
heterophylla	0.3	0	2	None

Table A12: Species-specific parameter values for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for JBLM.

Species	Functional Type	N Fixation	Growing Degree Days Min	Growing Degree Days Max	Minimum Jan Temp	Max Drought	Leaf Longevity	Epicormic Sprouting
Abies grandis	2	N	500	2450	-9	0.8	6	N
Acer macrophyllum	1	N	900	3100	-25	0.7	1	Y
Alnus rubra	1	Y	600	2200	-24	0.8	1	Y
Fraxis latifolia	1	N	150	2400	-22	0.7	1	N
Pinus ponderosa	2	N	800	3900	-41	0.9	4.5	N
Pseudotsuga menziesii	2	N	500	2500	-37	0.8	4.8	N
Quercus garryana	3	N	1400	2600	-34	0.9	1	Y
Thuja plicata	2	N	500	2000	-36	0.7	8.9	N
Tsuga heterophylla	2	N	500	1900	-31	0.7	1.6	N

Species	Leaf Lignin	Fine Root Lignin	Wood Lignin	Coarse Root Lignin	Leaf C:N	Fine Root C:N	Wood C:N	Coarse Root C:N	Litter C:N
	-							-	
Abies grandis	0.25	0.22	0.35	0.35	42	27	500	170	77
Acer									
macrophyllum	0.192	0.224	0.25	0.26	20	30	440	90	62
Alnus rubra	0.117	0.151	0.25	0.19	23	25	50	50	24
Fraxis latifolia	0.122	0.159	0.25	0.2	24	38	400	90	55
Pinus									
ponderosa	0.28	0.233	0.35	0.277	43	47	380	284	85
Pseudotsuga									
menziesii	0.155	0.296	0.269	0.323	42	52	455	214	68
Quercus									
garryana	0.176	0.22	0.14	0.26	32	63	63	62	33
Thuja plicata	0.18	0.205	0.293	0.245	53	29	80	38	100
Tsuga									
heterophylla	0.191	0.216	0.288	0.245	46	50	380	313	37

Functional Group Name	Index	PPDF1 T-Mean	PPDF2 T-Max	PPDF3 T-Shape	PPDF4- T-Shape	FCFRAC Leaf	BTOLAI	KLAI	MAXLAI
Hdwd_mesic	1	18.5	40.0	5.0	0.8	0.3	0.004	1000	4.0
Hdwd_dry	3	22.0	40.0	1.0	3.0	0.3	0.007	1000	4.0
Conifers	2	18.0	40.0	5.0	0.7	0.2	0.004	5000	12.0

Table A13: Functional group parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for JBLM.

Functional Group Name	Index	PPRPTS2	PPRPTS3	Wood Decay Rate	Monthly Wood Mortality	Mortality Age Shape	Leaf Drop Month
Hdwd_mesic	1	1.0	0.8	0.4	0.0024	10	10
Hdwd_dry	3	1.0	0.4	0.3	0.0024	15	10
Conifers	2	1.0	0.8	0.4	0.0015	15	10

Table A14: Ecoregion parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for JBLM.

Initial Ecoregion Parameters										
Name	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM1	SOM2	SOM2	SOM3	SOM3	Minrl	
	С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	С	Ν	N	
	Surf	Surf	Soil	Soil						
Eco1	267	7	226.8	18.9	4158	207.9	3175.2	317.5	0.306	
Eco2	2064	52	137.2	11.4	2514.6	125.7	1920.2	192	0.476	

	Soil Depth	% Clay	% Sand	Field Cap	Wilt Point	StormF Frac	BaseF Frac	Drain	Atm N dep	Atm N intercept	Latitude
Eco1	100	0.035	0.823	0.069	0.034	0.01	0.14	0.9	0.0044	0.0343	47.0
Eco2	100	0.023	0.630	0.100	0.059	0.00	0.10	0.7	0.0044	0.0343	47.0

Ecoregion Parameters cont.	Decay Surf	Decay SOM1	Decay SOM2	/ 2	Decay SOM3	Denitrifi
Eco1	0.3	(	).2	0.025	0.00008	0.01
Eco2	0.3	C	).7	0.060	0.00001	0.01

Table A15: Species productivity parameters for the Century Succession extension of LANDIS-II for JBLM.

## MonthlyMaxNPP (g m<sup>-2</sup> month<sup>-1</sup>)

	Eco1	Eco2
Abies grandis	400	400
Acer macrophyllum	300	300
Alnus rubra	400	400
Fraxis latifolia	400	400
Pinus ponderosa	300	300
Pseudotsuga menziesii	350	350
Quercus garryana	200	200
Thuja plicata	300	300
Tsuga heterophylla	300	300

### Maximum Biomass (g m<sup>-2</sup>)

	Eco1	Eco2
Abies grandis	50000	50000
Acer macrophyllum	50000	50000
Alnus rubra	50000	50000
Fraxis latifolia	50000	50000
Pinus ponderosa	60000	60000
Pseudotsuga menziesii	100000	100000
Quercus garryana	15000	15000
Thuja plicata	70000	70000
Tsuga heterophylla	100000	100000

### **References for LANDIS Parameters**

Apple, M., K. Tiekotter, M. Snow, J. Young, A. Soeldner, D. Phillips, D. Tingey, and B.J. Bond. 2002. Needle anatomy changes with increasing tree age in Douglas-fir. Tree Physiology 22:129-136.

Balster, N.J. and J.D. Marshall. 2000. Decreased needle longevity of fertilized Douglas-fir and grand fir in the northern Rockies. Tree Physiology 20:1191-1197.

Burns, R.M., Honkala, B.H. (Eds.), 1990a. Silvics of North America Volume 1: Conifers. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Washington DC.

Burns, R.M., Honkala, B.H. (Eds.), 1990b. Silvics of North America Volume 2: Hardwoods. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Washington DC.

Burton, P.J. and S.G. Cumming. 1995. Potential effects of climatic change on some western Canadian forests, based on pheonological enhancements to a patch model of forest succession. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 82:401-414.

Chen, H. M.E. Harmon, R.P. Griffiths. 2001. Decomposition and nitrogen release from decomposing woody roots in coniferous forests of the Pacific Northwest: a chronosequence approach. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31:246-260.

Chen, H., M.E. Harmon, J. Sexton, and B. Fasth. 2002. Fine-root decomposition and N dynamics in coniferous forests of the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:320-331.

Cross, A. and S.S. Perakis. 2011. Tree species and soil nutrient profiles in old-growth forests of the Oregon coast range. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 41:195-210.

Dore, S., M. Montes-Helu, B.W. Sullivan, W.D. Winslow, S.C. Hart, J.P. Kaye, G.W. Koch, B.A. Hungate. Long-term impact of a stand-replacing fire on ecosystem CO<sub>2</sub> exchange of a ponderosa pine forest. Global Change Biology 14:1801-1820.

Dore, S., T.E. Kolb, M. Montes-Helu, S.E. Eckert, B.W. Sullivan, B.A. Hungate, J.P. Kaye, S.C. Hart, G.W. Koch, A. Finkral. 2010. Carbon and water fluxes from ponderosa pine forests disturbed by wildfire and thinning. Ecological Applications 20:663-683.

Dore, S., M. Montes-Helu, S.C. Hart, B.A. Hungate, G.W. Koch, J.B. Moon, A.J. Finkral, T.E. Kolb. 2012. Recovery of ponderosa pine ecosystem carbon and water fluxes from thinning and stand-replacing fire. Global Change Biology 18:3171-3185.

Fulé, P.Z., W.W. Covington, M.M. Moore. 1997. Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of southwestern ponderosa pine forests. Ecological Applications 7:895-908.

Grady, K.C., and S.C. Hart. 2006. Influences of thinning, prescribed burning, and wildfire on soil processes and properties in southwestern ponderosa pine forests: a retrospective study. Forest Ecology and Management234:123-135.

Griffin, S. 2007. Forest management and stump-to-forest gate chain-of-custody certification evaluation report for the forestlands managed by the: forestry branch, Fort Lewis Military Installation, Department of Defense. Scientific Certification Systems, Emeryville, CA 102 pgs.

Harlow, B.A., R.A. Duursma, and J.D. Marshall. 2005. Leaf longevity of western red cedar (*Thuja plicata*) increases with depth in the canopy. Tree Physiology 25:557-562.

Harrington, C.A. 2006. Biology and ecology of red alter in R.L. deal and C.A. Harrington, editors. Red Alter: A State of Knowledge. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland OR.

Heath, B., P. Sollins, D.A. Perry, and K. Cromack, Jr. 1987. Asymbiotic nitrogen fixation in litter from Pacific Northwest forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 18:68-74.

Hooker, T.D., Compton, J.E., 2003. Forest ecosystem carbon and nitrogen accumulation during the first century after agricultural abandonment. Ecological Applications 13, 299-313.

Kirkman, L.K., Mitchell, R.J., Helton, R.C., Drew, M.B., 2001. Productivity and species richness across an environmental gradient in a fire-dependent ecosystem. American Journal of Botany 88, 2119-2128.

Kolb, T.E., and J.E. Stone. 2000. Differences in leaf gas exchange and water relations among species and tree sizes in an Arizona pine-oak forest. Tree Physiology 20:1-12.

LANDFIRE: LANDFIRE Mean Fire Return Interval layer. 2013. U.S. Department of Interior, Geological Survey. [Online] <u>http://landfire.cr.usgs.gov/viewer/</u> (Accessed October 2014).

Lee, J.J. and D.E. Weber 1983. Effects of sulfuric acid rain on decomposition rate and chemical element content of hardwood leaf litter. Canadian Journal of Botany 61(3):872-879

Loudermilk, E.L., Cropper, W.P., Mitchell, R.J., Lee, H., 2011. Longleaf pine (Pinus palustris) and hardwood dynamics in a fire-maintained ecosystem: A simulation approach. Ecological Modeling 222, 2733-2750.

Markewitz, D., Sartori, F., Craft, C., 2002. Soil Change and Carbon Storage in Longleaf Pine Stands Planted on Marginal Agricultural Lands. Ecological Applications 12, 1276-1285.

Metherell, A.K., Harding, L.A., Cole, C.V., Parton, W.J., 1993. CENTURY soil organic matter model environment technical documentation Agroecosystem Version 4.0. USDA-ARS, Fort Collins, CO.

Mitchell, R., Engstrom, T., Sharitz, R.R., De Steven, D., Hiers, K., Cooper, R., Kirkman, L.K., 2009. Old Forests and Endangered Woodpeckers: Old-Growth in the Southern Coastal Plain. Natural Areas Journal 29, 301-310.

Mitchell, R.J., Kirkman, L.K., Pecot, S.D., Wilson, C.A., Palik, B.J., Boring, L.R., 1999. Patterns and controls of ecosystem function in longleaf pine - wiregrass savannas. I. Aboveground net primary productivity. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29, 743-751.

Moore, T.R., J.A. Trofymow, C.E. Prescott, J. Fyles, B.D. Titus, CIDET Working Group. 2006. Patterns of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus dynamics in decomposing foliar litter in Canadian forests. Ecosystems 9:46-62.

Parton, W.J., Scurlock, J.M.O., Ojima, D.S., Gilmanov, T.G., Scholes, R.J., Schimel, D.S., Kirchner, T., Menaut, J.C., Seastedt, T., Moya, E.G., Kamnalrut, A., Kinyamario, J.I., 1993. Observations and modeling of biomass and soil organic matter dynamics for the grassland biome worldwide. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 7, 785-809.

Pastor, J., Post, W.M., 1986. Influence of climate, soil-moisture, and succession on forest carbon and nitrogen cycles. Biogeochemistry 2, 3-27.

Prather, J.W., R.F. Noss, T.D. Sisk. 2008. Real versus perceived conflicts between restoration of ponderosa pine forests and conservation of the Mexican spotted owl. Forest Policy and Economics 10:140-150.

Remucal, J.M., McGee, J.D., Fehrenbacher, M.M., Best, C., Mitchell, R.J., 2013. Application of the Climate Action Reserve's Forest Project Protocol to a Longleaf Pine Forest under Restoration Management. Journal of Forestry 111, 59-66.

Samuelson, L.J., Stokes, T.A., Johnsen, K.H., 2012. Ecophysiological comparison of 50-year-old longleaf pine, slash pine and loblolly pine. Forest Ecology and Management 274, 108-115.

Samuelson, L.J., Whitaker, W.B., 2012. Relationships between Soil CO2 Efflux and Forest Structure in 50-Year-Old Longleaf Pine. Forest Science 58, 472-484.

Scheller, R.M., Domingo, J.B., Sturtevant, B.R., Williams, J.S., Rudy, A., Gustafson, E.J., Mladenoff, D.J., 2007. Design, development, and application of LANDIS-II, a spatial landscape simulation model with flexible temporal and spatial resolution. Ecological Modeling 201, 409-419.

Scheller, R.M., Hua, D., Bolstad, P.V., Birdsey, R.A., Mladenoff, D.J., 2011a. The effects of forest harvest intensity in combination with wind disturbance on carbon dynamics in Lake States Mesic Forests. Ecological Modeling 222, 144-153.

Scheller, R.M., Van Tuyl, S., Clark, K.L., Hom, J., La Puma, I., 2011b. Carbon Sequestration in the New Jersey Pine Barrens Under Different Scenarios of Fire Management. Ecosystems 14, 987-1004.

Schimel, D.S., Braswell, B.H., Holland, E.A., McKeown, R., Ojima, D.S., Painter, T.H., Parton, W.J., Townsend, A.R., 1994. Climatic, edaphic, and biotic controls over storage and turnover of carbon in soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 8, 279-293.

Schowalter, T.D, Y.L. Zhang, and T.E. Sabin. 1998. Decomposition and nutrient dynamics of oak Quercus spp. Logs after five years of decomposition. Ecography 21:3-10.

Smith, P., Smith, J.U., Powlson, D.S., McGill, W.B., Arah, J.R.M., Chertov, O.G., Coleman, K., Franko, U., Frolking, S., Jenkinson, D.S., Jensen, L.S., Kelly, R.H., Klein-Gunnewiek, H., Komarov, A.S., Li, C., Molina, J.A.E., Mueller, T., Parton, W.J., Thornley, J.H.M., Whitmore, A.P., 1997. A comparison of the performance of nine soil organic matter models using datasets from seven long-term experiments. Geoderma 81, 153-225.

Sturtevant, B.R., Scheller, R.M., Miranda, B.R., Shinneman, D., Syphard, A., 2009. Simulating dynamic and mixed-severity fire regimes: A process-based fire extension for LANDIS-II. Ecological Modeling 220, 3380-3393.

Syphard, A.D., R.M. Scheller, B.C. Ward, W.D. Spencer, J.R. Strittholt. 2011. Simulating landscape-scale effects of fuels treatments in the Sierra Nevada, California, USA. International Journal of Wildland Fire 20:364-383.

USDA, Forest, Service, 2013. Fire Effects Information System. In: Service, U.F. (Ed.). USDA Forest Service, Washington DC.

USDA, NRCS, 2013. The PLANTS Database. USDA NRCS, Greensboro, NC.

Van Wagner, C.E., 1987. Development and structure of the Canadian forest fire weather index system. Forestry Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Van Wagner, C.E., Stocks, B.J., Lawson, B.D., Alexander, M.E., Lynham, T.J., McAlpine, R.S., 1992. Development and strucutre of the Canadian forest fire behavior prediction system. Fire Danger Group, Forestry Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Whelan, A., Mitchell, R., Staudhammer, C., Starr, G., 2013. Cyclic Occurrence of Fire and Its Role in Carbon Dynamics along an Edaphic Moisture Gradient in Longleaf Pine Ecosystems. Plos One 8.

Wilson, C.A., Mitchell, R.J., Hendricks, J.J., Boring, L.R., 1999. Patterns and controls of ecosystem function in longleaf pine - wiregrass savannas. II. Nitrogen dynamics. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29, 752-760.

# **Appendix B**

List of Scientific/Technical Publications that were produced during the course of this project.

## Articles in peer-reviewed journals:

Martin, K.L., M.D. Hurteua, B.A. Hungate, G.W. Koch, M.P. North. 2015. Carbon tradeoffs of restoration and provision of endangered species habitat in a fire-maintained forest. Ecosystems 18, 76-88.

Hurteau, M.D. S. Liang, K.L. Martin, M.P. North, G.W. Koch, B.A. Hungate. In press. Restoring forest structure and process stabilizes forest carbon in wildfire-prone southwestern ponderosa pine. Ecological Applications, doi:10.1890/15-0337.1

## **Conference or symposium abstracts:**

Hurteau, M.D. (Invited) Simulating climate, fire, and management influences on forest carbon dynamics in single- and multi-species forests of the Southwestern and Southeastern US. 2014 American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting.

Laflower, D., M.D. Hurteau. Simulating carbon dynamics and species composition under projected changes in climate in the Puget Sound, Washington, USA. 2014 American Geophysical Union, Fall Meeting.

Hurteau, M.D., M.L. Brooks. (Invited) Short- and long-term effects of fire on carbon in US dry temperate forests. 2014 Southern Sierra Fire and Hydroclimate Workshop.

Martin, K.L., B.A. Hungate, G.W. Koch, M.P. North, M.D. Hurteau. Tradeoffs in forest carbon dynamics, fire management, and red-cockaded woodpecker habitat in longleaf pine ecosystems. 2013 meeting of the Ecological Society of America.

Colbert, C.T., K.L. Martin, M.D. Hurteau. Fire management impacts on carbon storage in Southwest ponderosa pine forests. 2013 meeting of the Ecological Society of America.

Hurteau, M.D. (Invited) Fire in a changing climate: quantifying and managing carbon trade-offs. Chicago Botanic Garden Research Symposium – Research-based answers to burning questions about the ecology of prescribed fires, October 26, 2012.

Martin, K.L., M.D. Hurteau, G.W. Koch, B.A. Hungate, M.P. North. Modeling the carbon implications of fire management in frequent-fire forests. RCN FORECAST New Investigators Conference, 2012.

# Appendix C

User guides developed as part of this project:

Modeling the carbon implications of ecologically-based forest management, Camp Navajo Modeling Manual.

Modeling the carbon implications of ecologically-based forest management, Fort Benning Modeling Manual.

Modeling the carbon implications of ecologically-based forest management, Joint Base Lewis McChord Modeling Manual.